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Competing in overcrowded industries is no way to sustain high performance. The real opportunity is to create
blue oceans of uncontested market space. Blue oceans are defined by untapped market space, demand
creation, and the opportunity for highly profitable growth.

The corner-stone of Blue Ocean Strategy is ‘Value Innovation’. A blue ocean is created when Ta Yang achieves
value innovation that creates value simultaneously for both the customers and Ta Yang. The innovation (including
product, service, or delivery) must raise and create value for the market, while simultaneously reducing or
eliminating features or services that are less valued by the current or future market.
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SHARE INFORMATION
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Huang Sheng-Shun
Chairman and Executive Director

Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun, aged 55, is the Chairman and Executive
Director of the Company. He is responsible for the development
of our general corporate strategy, operation management,
planning and decision making. Mr. Huang, together with
Mr. Wu Ih Chen, founded the Group on 7th May 1991. Prior
to the establishment of the Group, he was the operation
manager of a chemical company between June 1978 and May
1982. Afterwards, he worked at Ta Yang Oil N Fat Industrial
Co., Ltd. (K3FHPs LMD BRAR]), a private company, and
since 1986 became the company's general manager until 2005.
Mr. Huang and his family members have been the shareholders
of Ta Yang Qil N Fat Industrial Co., Ltd. until Ta Yang Oil N Fat
Industrial Co., Ltd., ceased operations and was wound up in
April 2006. Save as disclosed above, there is no relationship
between Ta Yang Oil N Fat Industrial Co., Ltd. and each of the
Group's companies, its directors, its substantial shareholders
and their respective associates. Mr. Huang is also the father of
Mr. Huang Te-Wei, an Executive Director of the Company.

Mr. Huang has also been a non-executive director of Formosan
Union Chemical Corp., a company listed on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange Corporation, from 1st July 1987 to 30th June 1996
and from 1st July 2002 to present. He has over 30 years
of experience in management positions in the chemical
manufacturing industry. Mr. Huang graduated from the Faculty
of Law, National Taiwan University in 1976. Mr. Huang is also
a director of various subsidiaries of the Group.
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Wu Ih Chen
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Wu Ih Chen, aged 58 is the Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Wu has over 22 years of
experience in the silicone rubber industry. Mr. Wu, together with
Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun founded the Group on 7th May 1991. He
is currently mainly responsible for the marketing, administration
and financial planning of the Group. He is also devoted to
the development of the core techniques and has personally
developed various patented keypads. Mr. Wu graduated from
the Aletheia University in 1971 and completed the studying
program for Hong Kong Senior Management in Business
organised by the Peking University in the PRC. Mr. Wu is a
director for the Eleventh Board of Directors of International
Association of Chinese Traders. Mr. Wu is also a director of
various subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Wu is the elder brother of Mr. Wu Tien-Tao, the
associate general manager of the Group and the father of
Mr. Wu Chung-chieh, Jack and Ms. Wu Pei Min who are the
corporate development manager and the corporate relations
manager of the Group.

Wong Tak Leung
Executive Director and Deputy General Manager

Mr. Wong Tak Leung, aged 48 is an Executive Director and
Deputy General Manager. Mr. Wong joined the Group in May
1993 and was subsequently promoted to deputy managing
director in 2001. Mr. Wong is responsible for the sales and
marketing functions of the Group. During 1981 to 1989,
Mr. Wong served in the Strategic Planning Department of Hong
Kong Aircraft Engineering Company Limited. Mr. Wong is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
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Lin Hung-Ming
Executive Director and Research & Development Director

Mr. Lin Hung-Ming, aged 45, is an Executive Director and the
research and development director of the Group. Mr. Lin joined
the Group in 1993 and is currently responsible for research
and development of the Group. Mr. Lin graduated from the
Department of Mechanics, Private Chih-Kwang Vocational High
School of Business and Technology. He has over 21 years of
experience in the silicone rubber industry. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Lin was a factory manager of an electronics
company in Taiwan.

Huang Te-Wei
Executive Director and the General Manager

Mr. Huang Te-Wei, aged 29, is an Executive Director and the
general manager of the Group. He is the head of our control
department with responsibilities to overseeing the Group's
compliance and internal control matters. From 2008 onwards,
Mr. Huang was also responsible for the supervision of the daily
operation of the Group factories in PRC and strategic planning.
Mr. Huang graduated from the Industrial Administration stream,
Department of Business Administration, National Taiwan
University and has undergone military training in Taiwan.
Mr. Huang is also a director of various subsidiaries of the
Group.

Mr. Huang is the eldest son of Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun, the
Chairman and the Executive Director of the Group.
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Kirk Yang
Non-executive Director

Mr. Kirk Yang, aged 42, is a Non-executive Director of the
Company. He holds Bachelor (with distinction) and Master
of Science degrees in Electrical Engineering from Purdue
University and Master of Business Administration (Finance,
Accounting and Marketing concentrations) from University of
Chicago.

Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Yang was a managing director
and head of Asia Technology Research of Citi Investment
Research of Citigroup Global Markets Asia Limited based in
Hong Kong (“Citi"). He was also awarded the No.1 analyst by
Institutional Investors, Financial Times and Greenwich in 2004,
2006 and 2007 respectively in recognition of his accomplishment
in investment equity research industry. Before joining Citi,
Mr. Yang served as the director and head of Asia Technology
Hardware Research at Credit Suisse and No. 1 analyst. Mr.Yang
has more than eight years of experience in investment equity
research industry including worked at Goldman Sachs and
BNP Paribas respectively. Mr. Yang also has more than seven
years experience in management consulting, sales/marketing
and engineering operation in various corporations such as A.T.
Kearney, Accenture, EDS, Emerson Electric, IBM, and AT&T.
Mr. Yang did not hold any position in the Group since
1st February 2009.

Chuang Hong-Jen
Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Chuang Hong-Jen, aged 55 was an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company. Mr. Chuang has experience
in the financial services industry as he acted as a deputy
general manager in a securities company in Taiwan from 1989
to 1996. Mr. Chuang also has experience in the display devices
industry. Mr. Chuang graduated from the Tamsui Institute of
Business Administration of Taiwan in June 1975. He obtained
bachelor degree from Feng Chia University in June 1980,
and was awarded a master's degree from the Department
of Accounting, Soochow University in June 1984. For the last
three years, Mr. Chuang was the chairman of Innolux Display
Corporation, a company listed in the Taiwan Stock Exchange
Corporation which engage in the production of liquid crystal
display devices.
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Hsieh Yu

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Hsieh Yu, aged 61, was an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company. He obtained a certificate for solicitor
in Taiwan in 1977 and jointed the Taipei Bar Association
immediately as a practicing Attorney-at-Law. He is the
responsible officer of BHE/AEEHFT. He had been the legal
consultant for various corporations and organizations. Mr. Hsieh
graduated from the Faculty of Law, National Taiwan University
in 1976.

Yeung Chi Tat
Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Yeung ChiTat, aged 40, was an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. He holds a bachelor's degree in
business administration from The University of Hong Kong and
a master’s degree in professional accounting from Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
and the president of the International Financial Management
Association Hong Kong headquarters. He is currently the
financial controller and company secretary of Dynasty Fine
Wines Group Limited (Stock Code: 828) and an independent
non-executive director of ANTA Sports Products Limited (Stock
Code: 2020), both of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange in Hong Kong. Mr. Yeung is also an independent
non-executive director of Linefan Technology Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 8166) which is listed on the GEM Board of the
Stock Exchange in Hong Kong. Mr. Yeung has previously worked
at a major international accounting firm for over ten years. He
possesses experience in auditing, corporate restructuring and
corporate financial services.
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Notes:

The Directors’ interests in shares of the Company, if any, within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO as at 31st July 2009 are
disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive's

Interests” in this Annual Report.

Save as disclosed in the Directors’ respective biographical
details under “Biographical Details of Directors” section, the
Directors (a) have not held any directorships in other publicly
listed companies, whether in Hong Kong or overseas, during the
last three years; and (b) do not have any other relationships with
any Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling

shareholders of the Company.

The Directors (except Executive Directors) will receive Directors’
fee in the amounts approved from time to time by shareholders
at the Annual General Meeting of the Company. The current
amount of Directors fees have been determined by reference
to directors’ experience, duties and responsibilities. The details
of the emoluments of Directors on a named basis are disclosed

in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

All the Executive Directors had respectively entered into directors’
service contracts with the Company, all of which will expire on
15th May 2010. Mr. Kirk Yang had entered into appointment
letter with the Company commencing on 1st February 2009 for
a term of three years. Mr. Chuang Hong-Jen, Mr. Hsieh Yu and
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat had respectively entered into appointment
letter, all of which commenced on 15th May 2008 for a term
of three years. All Directors are subject to retire by rotation
in accordance with the Company's Articles of Association.
Accordingly, each Directors is required to retire by rotation once
every three years and that no less than one-third (or the number
nearest to one-third) of the existing Directors shall retire from
office every year at the Company’s Annual General Meeting.
A Director’s specific term of appointment, therefore, cannot
exceed three years. Every retiring Director shall be eligible for

re-election at the Annual General Meeting of the Company.
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Chan Oi Fat
Financial Controller & Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Qi Fat, aged 31, joined the Group in January 2008
as the financial controller and the company secretary of the
Company. Mr. Chan is mainly responsible for the financial and
accounting management and secretarial affairs of the Group.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chan was an audit manager in
an international accounting firm. Mr. Chan has over 9 years of
experience in professional accounting and auditing experience.
Mr. Chan graduated from The City University of Hong Kong
with a bachelor in accountancy. He is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Chih Hai-Pin
Associate General Manager (Dongguang office)

Mr. Chih Hai-Pin, aged 50, the associate general manager of
the subsidiary company of the Group. He has over 19 years
of experience in the silicone rubber industry and is currently
responsible for research and development of the Group.
Mr. Chih graduated from the Department of Japanese, Soochow
University, Taiwan and holds a 1SO9000 External Auditing
Qualification Certificate issued by the American Quality System
Registrar.

Luo Bao Dong
Financial Manager (Dongguang office)

Mr. Luo Bao Dong, aged 36, the financial manager of the
subsidiary company of the Group. Mr. Luo is responsible for
the daily operations of our financial and control department,
taxation and internal control of the PRC subsidiaries of the
Group. He also provides assistance to the management in
administration and personnel management. Mr. Luo has
obtained the accountant professional qualification and the
certificates of the PRC certified public accountant and the
certificate of PRC registered tax agent.

Wu Tien-Tao
Associate General Manager (Huzhou office)

Mr. Wu Tien-Tao, aged 51, is the associate general manager
of the subsidiary company of the Group. He oversees
the operation of Huzhou Factory. Mr. Wu joined our
Group in August 2003 and has been responsible for the
operation of the Huzhou factory of the Group since then.
Mr. Wu has over 11 years of experience in the production of
silicone rubber and multiple layered and soft printed circuit
boards. Mr. Wu is the younger brother of Mr. Wu Ih Chen, an
executive Director of the Company.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEMRE

Huang Sheng-Shun
5

Chairman % /%

Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the board of directors of Ta Yang Group Holdings
Limited, | herewith present to all our shareholders the annual report
of the Group for the year ended 31st July 2009.

Due to the global financial tsunami in the last quarter of 2008,
the world economy has undergone significant changes and
the Company has also encountered tough challenges. As the
business environment is gradually deteriorating, our customers
strategically adjusted their orders which led to an adverse effect
on our business. To mitigate such negative impact as a result
of the unfavorable sentiment, the Group proactively adopted
countermeasures to enhance our existing product mix and expand
our income streams.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the financial year ended, the Group'’s turnover decreased 16.7%
to HK$620,251,000.

The Group's loss for the year was HK$38,893,000, representing
a decrease of 138.7% as compared to profit of HK$100,383,000
last year. Loss per share for the year were HK4.86 cents (2008:
earnings of HK12.55 cents per share).

Increasing cost efficiency
marks the start of an upward trend.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year, the Group optimized its product structure by
integrating our production facilities in Dongguan and Huzhou. The
Group flexibly utilized advanced technology to upgrade its existing
products. Such enhancement process will inevitably lead to higher
costs at the beginning stage. However, we are confident that the
efforts we made will result in lower production costs and higher
production capability in future.

In light of the adjustment of market demand in consumer products,
the Group also strengthened our product development ability by
upgrading customized services and expanding the industry niche
SO as to keep in line with our business development.

Keypads for consumer electronic devices and computers were
our core businesses which had suffered major setbacks in the
financial crisis. Though the demand for various kinds of consumer
electronic devices had decreased sharply, demand for the relevant
innovative computer products such as Netbook and Ultra-Mobile
PC (UMPC) remained strong. Since the Group had strived to
capture relevant opportunities in bid to seek new customers by
various measures such as lowering the average selling prices, we
achieved an outstanding result in computer keypad business which
contributed to the Group'’s overall revenue.

We have continued to produce quality products with advanced
technological features to meet the need of the customers. Besides,
thanks to the dedicated efforts of our management and staff in
exploring new markets, the Group has managed to acquire new
sizeable customers. In 2009, the global economy remained volatile,
we changed our business strategies from aggressive to prudent
and pragmatic to optimize our product portfolio and volume. We
believe that these forward looking initiatives can consolidate our
ongoing management and provide us leverage for encountering
the tough business environment.

Despite the business slowdown, the newly launched brand “SIPALS”
still maintained a steady growth in 2008 and was recognized by
more customers. Although its contribution is still not material to the
Group, we have confidence that “SIPALS” will become our driving
force in the future.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEMRE

OUTLOOK

It is anticipated that the tough business environment will linger on
for a considerable period. Although the global economy shows
signs of recovery, the business environment remains difficult. To
embrace the upcoming challenges, the Group will continue to
implement a number of stringent cost optimization measures to
reduce its operating cost in order to maintain our competitiveness
and to capitalize on new business opportunities.

The Directors are optimistic about the future development of
the Group’s business and will continue to implement the well-
established business strategies so as to enhance the Company’s
value and to bring outstanding return to the shareholders.

APPRECIATION

Last but not least, | would like to take this opportunity to thank the
management and staff for their dedication and hard work during
these challenging times. The Group will strive to strengthen our
leading position in the industry.

Huang Sheng-Shun
Chairman and Executive Director
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Business Review & Outlook

XTFOEaERE

MARKET REVIEW

The unprecedented global economic crisis changed the macro-
economic environment substantially beginning from second half of
2008. It led global gross domestic product (GDP) growth to drop
significantly from 5.2% in 2007 to 3.4% in 2008.

Due to the outbreak of financial tsunami, the global demand for
consumer products was slowed down during the year 2009.
Consequently, public enthusiasm for the 4C products, including
consumer electronic devices, mobile phones, computers
and automotive peripheral products, was quickly dampened.
However, market demand for innovative consumer electronic
products that offer significant value remained relatively steady,
i.e. 3G smartphones, laptops and sub-notebooks (netbooks). As
a result, it brought both huge challenges and opportunities to the
industry at the same time. Moreover, amid the challenging operating
environment, competition in the industry remained severe as most
industry players adopted aggressive pricing strategies to attract
more customers. It led the average selling price to unavoidably
decrease during the year. Normally, the second half of the year
was the slack reason of our business, the financial tsunami further
caused our sales to decrease during this period.

During the year, the Group's performance was directly affected by
the decrease in production volume and the average selling price.
In addition, the decrease in gross profit margin was primarily due
to the increase in the rate of labour cost, other manufacturing
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overhead expenses and depreciation as a result of expansion of
factory in the PRC. In second half of the year, because the product
volumes were much lower and most of production expansions were
completed, a mismatch between production level and capacity was
formed. Such issue resulted in a decrease in utilisation rate.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Company’s Overall Performance

Amid the global financial turmoil, the operating environment
was exceptionally challenging during the year and had resulted
in unprecedented difficulties to the Group. The turnover for the
financial year ended 31st July 2009 declined approximately 16.7%
as compared to last year. The primary source of income of the
Group was still derived from sales of consumer electronic devices,
but its percentage to total turnover decreased from 54.4% to
47.6%. Sales of keypads for computers and notebooks which
increased by 6.8% partly offset the decrease in total turnover and
its percentage to total turnover increased from 27.3% to 35.1%.

Under the current global economic slowdown, customers are
less willing to accept the increase in selling price. Therefore, it
was difficult for us to transfer the cost increments to customers.
In addition, in order to attract new customers, we even have to
strategically lower the selling price. Along with the high level of
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Business Review & Outlook
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operation cost in the PRC and the unexpected decline in sales
orders, there was a significant decline in gross profit margin during
the year.

In order to strengthen the Group’s competitive edges, we have
continued to focus on optimizing our product mix with advanced
technological features to meet the needs of customers.

The expansion in Huzhou plant commenced production for laptops
and netbooks in succession. However, the outbreak of financial
tsunami caused a decrease in demand. The utilization rate of
the plant and machineries decreased dramatically and hence
deteriorated the gross profit. Therefore, the Group has adjusted
its business strategies from aggressive to prudent and pragmatic
including progressively passing on the increase in raw materials costs
to other parties, optimizing product portfolio, adjusting operating
strategy, tightening cost control, postponing the commencement
of new production base. These forward-looking initiatives have
consolidated our ongoing policies and provided strong protection
against the bleak winter,

In addition, the defect rate of our production in the second half
of the year unexpectedly increased and hence our performance
was further affected. This was mainly due to our reorganisation of
production process to which the staff was not accustomed at the
beginning. Moreover, the highly volatile market and a large number
of urgent sales orders also caused the defect rate to increase
significantly.

During the year, despite the deteriorating business environment,
the newly launched brand “SIPALS” was able to maintain steady
growth by providing a wide range of new lifestyle products with
environmental friendly features and cultural concepts. During the
year, the new brand was introduced to Taiwan and has increasingly
gaining consumer supports. Although the revenue from SIPALS
was insignificant during the year, we believe these products will
contribute profit in future. To sustain its growth, the Group will
continue to maintain high-margin products and focus on marketing
these products to broaden its customer base and explore business
opportunities.

Consumers are expecting more sophisticated and integrated
products and services nowadays, and hence we will strengthen
our research and development capabilities, so as to introduce
the most attractive and innovative products to customers and
differentiate us from our competitors.
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OUTLOOK

As aftershocks of the financial tsunami are expected to remain, the
global economy will stay dim for a period of time, resulting in an
extremely difficult business environment for enterprises.

To overcome the adversities, we will continue to tighten the
operating cost control, stringently manage and economize on
expenses and adjust our production deployment according to the
demand and orders from our customers. In addition, the Group
will continue to put more efforts on research and development,
aiming to enhance its product standards, product efficiency and
variety. We will also continue to diversify our revenue mix through
strengthening existing businesses, enriching product offerings and
sourcing new income streams in concert with the future business
development of the Group.

In light of the difficult business environment, the Group will adopt
a prudent approach on capital expenditure to maintain the healthy
cash position. Besides, the Group will adjust our investment portfolio
in order to sustain stable and healthy development of the Group.
Moreover, we will seek acquisition opportunities to expand the scale
of existing businesses and to broaden our scope of businesses
as and when appropriate.

Lastly, we will continue to explore new business opportunities
through strengthening its self-development capabilities and
enhancing its product quality and technology standards to cater
the needs of targeted customers, with an aim to support the
sustainable development of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIERB T mE DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW B % E R
The key financial figures for the year ended 31st July 2009 are EEZZZNFHtA=-T—HILEFENETEH
extracted as follows: BEFTRHEWNT :
2009 2008
HK$’000 HKS$'000
—EZAF —EENF
T FHET
Turnover e 620,251 744,908
Gross profit EF 101,058 213,489
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHMAX (28,269) (28,988)
Administrative expenses TR (94,706) (94,863)
(Loss) profit before interest and taxes BEAT (B18) & (36,773) 103,234
Finance costs BbE KR - (1,875)
Income tax expenses FriS il 2 (2,120) (976)
(Loss) profit for the year FR (E1E) & (38,893) 100,383
SALES BY PRODUCT REMmDENHEHE

Keypads for

% mobile phone
/— 381 e

Keypads for
— - 4.4 9 consumer
electronic devices
HEBEBFERRE
— 3.7 %

. Keypads for
computers and
notebooks

~——~ 924 %Eﬁ&%:ﬂ’;@ﬂ%ﬁ

Automotive
54.4 o \— . perpheral
476 % AR ER

2008 2009 i
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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TURNOVER

Turnover represents gross revenue generated from the sales of our
products, net of sales tax and other similar taxes. Our turnover is
affected by the volume of total products sold and the product mix
because our product lines have different selling prices.

The consolidated turnover for the year ended 31st July 2009 was
decreased by 16.7% to HK$620.3 million (2008: HK$744.9 million)
while our loss attributable to equity shareholders was HK$38.9 million
(2008: profit of HK$100.4 million).

Basic loss per share of the Company was HK4.86 cents per share
based on the weighted average number of 800,000,000 shares
in issue during the year (2008: basis earnings of HK12.55 cents
per share based on weighted average number of 800,000,000
shares).

Keypads for consumer electronic devices

Turnover for the sales of keypads for consumer electronics devices
decreased by approximately 27.2% to HK$295.2 million in 2009
from HK$405.3 million in 2008.

Due to the global financial crisis, the demand for consumer
electronics devices is inevitably declining as a result of the fall in
consumer confidence. The continuous industry in 4C products also
has the adverse effect on our turover. In addition, the demand
for one of the Group’s product, silicone protective cover for Wii
console handheld devices “Wii Jacket” has obvious decrease for
the year. Furthermore, with a will to increase the market share, it
is strategically to lower the selling price to attract new customers.
This also led the turnover to decrease accordingly.

Keypads for mobile phone

Turnover for the sales of mobile phone keypads increased
by approximately 34.6% to HK$56.7 million in 2009 from
HK$42.2 million in 2008. In the second half of 2008, there is still
strong demand for the sales of advanced mobile phone keypads.
However, beginning from 2009, the financial turmoil started to
spread to mobile phone market which resulted in a significant
decrease in the turnover. Nevertheless, the Group still record a
growth of 34.6% for the full year.
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Keypads for computers and notebooks

Turmnover for the sales of keypads for computers and notebooks
increased by approximately 6.8% to HK$217.4 million in 2009 from
HK$203.6 million in 2008. Although the sales in the first quarter
of the year has remained strong, due to the impact from financial
tsunami, the demand for innovative electronic products decreased
significantly in the second half of the year. In addition, due to
the keen competition, the selling prices for the of new products
model have been decreased in order to retain the customers.
The overall amounts still have an increase by approximately 6.8%
during the year.

Automotive peripheral products

Turnover for the sales of automotive peripheral products decreased
by approximately 29.6% to HK$27.5 million in 2009 from
HK$39.1 million in 2008. The decrease was resulted from weak
demand for the automotive market in overseas market especially
for the US market during the year.

COST OF SALES

Cost structure

The overall cost of sales decreased by approximately 2.3% from
HK$531.4 million in 2008 to HK$519.2 million in 2009 which was
in line with turnover.

However, the rate of decrease in cost of sales is lower than that
of tumover due to the significant increase in production costs
in the PRC. It was due to a tough operation environment to the
industry in the PRC.

In addition, as the Huzhou plant has completed the expansion
which increase the production capacity while sales orders still
remain weak, the utilization rate for the plant and machineries
drop significantly. Moreover, the unexpectedly increase in defect
rate in the production in the second half of the year. All these
factors cause the average cost of sales to increase significantly
during the year.

Gross profit

The gross profit of the Group for the year 2009 was HK$101.1 million,
which represented a decrease of approximately 52.7% from that of
HK$213.5 million for the year 2008. Apart from shrink in turnover,
the gross profit decrease was also due to that the production cost
in the PRC maintained at a very high level.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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In addition, as the Huzhou plant has completed the expansion
which increase the production capacity while sales orders still
remain weak, the utilization rate for the plant and machineries drop
significantly. Moreover, the defect rate unexpectedly increased in
the production in the second half of the year. All these factors cause
the unit cost to increase significantly during the year.

Under the current global economic slowdown, customers have
strong inertia in accepting the Group’s product selling price
adjustments. Hence a substantial portion of cost increment was
unable to shelf to the customers. In addition, competition in the
industry remained severe as most competitors have adopted
aggressive pricing strategies. As a result, in order to capture the
market share, the Group has to unavoidably follow such strategies
and hence causes to a lower gross profit margin.

Other Revenue

Other revenue decreased by approximately 21.1% to HK$17.5 million
in 2009 from HK$22.2 million in 2008, primarily due to the decrease
in interest income from bank deposits which was partly offset by the
compensation from insurance due to the fire accident in the PRC
factory.

Selling and Distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses decreased by approximately
2.5% to HK$28.3 million in 2009 from HK$29.0 million in 2008.
The slightly decrease was due to lower sales volume but partly
offset by the continuous increase in costs.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses slightly decreased by approximately 0.2%
to HK$94. 7 million in 2009 from HK$94.9 million in 2008. Although
the operating costs in the PRC remained high, we implemented a
tighter cost control on daily administration. This led to a decrease
in the amount of administrative expenses in the year.

Bad debts written off

The increase of bad debt expenses is due to that under the
current financial tsunami, some of customers that had long
outstanding receivables were under financial difficulties. Therefore,
the receivables from them have to be written off,

26 TAYANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED A ¥ % EiFRE R A 7

BESN - RN ERE T e B R TR IR ERE
BFTIGIN - BEERRIEMARS - BRMER
HERHEREARTH® - BF  RAFEE
F o AERHRHRFEREN - AR ER
EYEHEMRANFERAE LT -

BB EHREERE  EEFNEASEEREE
BREE - Jitt - KEDKRATRBAREERETE
B oo tsh - R KB HFHFRAERNE
BRE - FABEFDABR - Bt - SFEH
B - NEEEEPHRIVALUIRR - B
LEMETE -

H b z5
it iz oy = BB\ LE 822,200,000 T

421 1% 2 —FF N FEM17,500,0008 7T » £
DRHRIBITEROFEWATR DT » 2598
R A B A B IR B B (B8 o

HENRDHBEX

HE RS HEFY A ZFT/\FR29,000,00078
TORL D #)2.5% % — F F N F #)28,300,0008
TC o HERDHEBAYEMR O T RREEET
PRATER » (B3R WA B IG DA AR AN 8 o

THBRX

THAXHAZZZT )\ F K94,900,0007% T 8
OB 2 #90.2% = — 2 T N, & 194,700,00078
T BERFEIMNEERAFES D  A5H
KRB BT EETE BGRE R RCAIE SIE i o
RS FAMITRASI B TR ©

55 % AR

FRZBEASXABEM - THARESEER
T BAERARERFENE S LR B E
B o At BUIRE TR BME o



Management Discussion and Analysis

B IR [E 5w B ) AT

(Loss) profit for the year

Loss for the year ended 31st July 2009 was HK$38.9 million while
profit for the year ended 31st July 2008 was HK$100.4 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 138.7%. The net profit
margin of our Group decreased from 13.5% for the year ended
31st July 2008 to the net loss margin of 6.3% for the year ended
31st July 2009.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Our Directors expect that dividends will be paid as interim and/or
final dividends. We currently intend to pay annual cash dividends of
not less than 30% of our Group'’s audited consolidated profits after
taxation to our shareholders for the applicable year. However, the
determination to pay such dividends will be made at the discretion
of our Board and will be based upon our operating results, cash
flows, financial positions, capital requirements and other relevant
circumstances that the Board deems relevant. The payment of
dividends may be limited by legal restrictions and by agreements
that we may enter into in the future. Our Directors are of the views
that our dividend policy will not affect the sufficiency of our working
capital in the coming years.
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FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND
TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopts a conservative approach for cash management
and investment on uncommitted funds. The net proceeds from the
international offering (as defined in the Prospectus) have mainly
been placed on short-term deposits with authorized financial
institutions in Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group’s receipts were mainly denominated in
US dollars, Hong Kong dollars and RMB. Payments were mainly
made in US dollars and RMB.

In respect of the US dollar, the management regards that the foreign
exchange risk for Hong Kong dollar to US dollar is not material
because (i) Hong Kong dollar remains pegged to the US dollar and
(i) most of the Group'’s purchases are denominated in US dollars,
which are to be settled by sales receipts in US dollars.

In respect of the RMB, as the Group’s production plants are
located in the PRC, most of our labour costs, manufacturing
overheads, selling and administrative expenses were denominated
in BRMB. Therefore, the appreciation of RMB will adversely affect
the Group'’s profitability. The Group will closely monitors foreign
exchange exposure for RMB and consider hedging significant
exposure should the need arise.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year, the Group’s source of fund was cash generated from
net proceeds of the international offering, operating activities.

MBEERERHIR

AEEHEEE AR A FRRTNELE
B RATARE - BNEE(ERRERER)H
B REFED A B AR B B
B -

FR - AEBRFFIAIENAERT  BTTEA
REDE - (TR EBUERTRARE XA -

FETME - EREBRREITTHLETHINER
Bt NEK - B AR()E 7T B 3 T 8 R (i) AR
SEARIDHEBEASITINE - BUAXRTHE
Wesit s -

MAREMS - AR AEENEERE LR
R KRR DS TR ~ EEREAA - 55
ERITRAXHAAREIIE - Bt - ARKE
THER S ARKBOANENFRIFEE - K
SEBZERARBNIINERRINEFE
R B EASNE R -

REeEnERkUHBER

FA - ARENESRREZRSBEREENH
BRIRFELRL RS

As at 31st July As at 31st July

2009 2008

HK$°000 HK$'000

R=ZZTBIEF RZZEENF

+tBA=+—H +tA=+—H

FHBxT FHETT

Cash and cash equivalents He kRS EEY 458,000 487,429
Net cash outflow REmHFE (29,275) (123,939)
Current ratio TmENLL R 6.6 6.1
Quick ratio mEpLL = 5.7 5.2
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With our strong financial background upon Listing on the Stock
Exchange, we expect we will have sufficient cash to cover future
capital expenditure requirements.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
ASSOCIATES

The Group had no material acquisition or disposal of any subsidiaries
and associated companies for the year ended 31st July 2009.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds raised from the international offering received by
the Company was approximately HK$635 million.

The usage of net proceeds until 31st July 2009 are as follows:

BRASEERR EMHRBRMHES B
HAEBEHE RWR S ARN B RONEARR
i o

223

NS

TS

%ﬁ&&%%%ﬁﬂ&%

AERGERE_TENFLA=T—RIFE
P 8 B K Y s S AT B X R KB
7o

FREFIEAR

ARREBBRBRETERMERBFEND
636,000,000/ 7T °

BRE-FEALLAS+—0  FENAFE
BRI -

Particular Planned amount  Utilised amount
HH STEIAR EFEARK
HKS$ million HKS$ million
AEETT AEETT
Expansion of production facilities for
silicone rubber based products BRWBEMEERE 468 (169)
Upgrade and expansion of upstream
production facilities Rt R FE i B AR b 56 -
Strengthening research and development
capabilities hnoR i EEBE 39 (16)
Implementation of resources planning system #iTERREI R4 22 1)
General working capital —REEED 50 (50)
Total wEt 635 (236)

The remaining net proceeds have been deposited on short-term
basis in licensed financial institutions in Hong Kong and the PRC.

PSSR F R R E 7 N B S S B 5 h
BHIBIER TR -
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND GEARING
RATIO

As at 31st July 2009, the amount of bank borrowing due within
one year was nil. The amount was fully repaid in year 2008.

As at 31st July 2009, the Group had no long-term debts.

As at 31st July 2009, the gearing ratio, representing interest bearing
bank borrowing to total equity, was 0% (2008: 4.9%).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS,
CONTINGENCIES AND CHARGES ON
ASSETS

Capital commitments contracted by the Group but not yet
provided for in the financial statements as at 31st July 2009 were
approximately HK$11.7 million, which was mainly related to the
expansion of production capacity in Dongguan and Huzhou in the
PRC and acquisition of available-for-sale investments.

As at 31st July 2009, the Group had no material contingent liabilities
and the Group’s assets were free from any charge.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND
REMUNERATION POLICIES

As the Group is committed to expand our production capacity
and develop high value-added products, such as mobile phone
keypads, experienced workers, engineers and professionals are the
most important assets to the Group. We offer on-the-job training
and encourage staff to attend continuous professional training in
order to update their skills and knowledge.

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED A ¥ £ EZER AR A A

EXGERREERSRBLLER
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We offer competitive remuneration package, including quality staff
quarters, trainings, medical, insurance coverage and retirement
benefits, to the employees in Hong Kong and in the PRC. As at
31st July 2009, the Group has 8,123 permanent and temporary
employees (2008: 9,097). The total salaries and related costs
for the year ended 31st July 2009 amounted to approximately
HK$225.1 million (2008: HK$227.0 million).

The Group adopted a Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme on 16th May
2007 for the purpose of recognition of employees’ contribution
before the Listing. As at 31st July 2009, 7,085,000 share options
were still outstanding under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme,
of which 5,255,000 options are held by employees of the Group.
The Company also adopted a Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on
16th May 2007. No option has been granted under the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme.

BMAEERTRESREAGF IS
X REEEMEIRES B BE - KRR
MEKER R-_TEZAFLA=Z+—8"
REBEAGHEER2B KK E 881235
(ZEZTNF 1 9097%) - RBE_ZTTIEF
tA=ZT—"BLFE FTHERBEBKRAMAYX
#5849 /225,100,000 T — T T )\ F:
227,000,000/ 7T) °

REBR-ZTFHAT/NHRMAE XA
BHERTREIRERE - U EEN EmATHN E R
ERRBA - R_ZTTNFELA=+—H BX
AR E R AR AT 81 {38 7,085,0001%
IEAR#E & R 1T{F - HHr5,255,00017 B BX # B
REEREHRE - AARTR-_ZEZT+FAHA
TARBRAERAABERBIRETE - 8K
N ER BT B AR BT AR -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

TEERERE
\,  Shareholders
/ IR ER
N
\ Board of Directors
J o4
—
Company Secretary
I pAwE
] ] Executive Nomination Remuneration Compliance
Audggmlttee Committee Committee Committee Committee
EREB® | yezee | pezae | sMzee | cpzEse
External Auditor

SNES 1% B R

) Corporate Governance Practices Enhancements

° Group policy and procedures for seeking independent
professional advice was established by the Company

° Revised Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee was
adopted by the Company

o “Share Repurchase Policy” was established by the
Company
° “Code of Ethics and Securities Transaction” was adopted

by the Company
o Each of the Executive Directors of the Company attained
at least 10 hours continuing professional training

» exceed the Code on Corporate Governance practices.

EEER

ERNESE

ARBEHEIBEBS
SEBER R

BE
. AR

o ARFREEMMETR

LI N/N
SEHEEIR

BRTEERTE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company has adopted its own code on corporate
governance practices (“the CG Code”) which is not less than
the code provisions as set out in the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “HKEX Code”) contained in Appendix
14 of the Rules of Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules™).
The Company has applied all the principles in the HKEX Code.
This report is prepared with reference to the HKEX Code.
Throughout 2008/2009, the Group has complied with the
provision set out in HKEX Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors (the “Model Code”).
Having made specific enquiry of all Directors of the Company
(the “Directors”), the Company confirmed that all Directors
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the year.

During the year, the Company adopted the “Code of Ethics and
Securities Transaction” to regulate the Directors and employees
of the Group in dealing shares of the Company and provide
guidelines and procedures on handling the conflict of interests
of Directors.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board of Directors

The board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company comprises
five Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director and three
Independent Non-executive Directors. The function of the
Board is to guide the management to ensure the interests of
the shareholders of the Company are safeguard.
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As at 31st July 2009, the Board comprises the following

members:

Name of Director

EEns

Huang Sheng-Shun
Eiab

Wu Ih Chen
REW

Lin Hung-Ming
MR

Wong Tak Leung

"HER
Huang Te-Wei
=R

Kirk Yang*
15 e

Chuang Hong-Jen
R

Hsieh Yu

A

Yeung Chi Tat
HEE

XEAWmE

Position

B

Executive Director & Chairman

HITESERER

Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer

HITEERITRAER

Executive Director &
Research & Development Director

HITESRABRERBEE

Executive Director &
Deputy General Manager

WITESRAIBLE

Executive Director & General Manager

HITESRAKRE

Non-Executive Director

FNTES

Independent Non-Executive Director

BUIFRTES

Independent Non-Executive Director

BUIFATES

Independent Non-Executive Director

BUIFRTES

RZTFZNFLA=1+—H EFGHNUTK

3

Date of first Date of last
appointment re-election
to the Board as Director

BREEE BE—R
AEER BREER
REK B H EENAH
23/2/2006 27/11/2007
23/2/2006 27/11/2007
14/12/2006 10/12/2008
23/2/2006 10/12/2008
23/2/2006 10/12/2008
18/4/2008 10/12/2008
16/5/2007 27/11/2007
16/5/2007 27/11/2007
16/5/2007 27/11/2007

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

EER

*

Mr. Kirk Yang re-designated into Non-executive Director on
1st February 2009

*

GEBEER_ZEZNF_A—BHATAE
ENITES
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The size and composition of the Board are reviewed from
time to time, taking into account the scope and nature of
operations of the Company, to ensure that the size of the
Board is adequate to provide for a diversity of views and
to facilitate effective decision-making. The Directors come
from diverse background with varied expertise in finance, legal
industry and business fields. The biographical details of all
Directors and the relationships among them are set out in
the “Directors’ Profile” on pages 7 to 12 of this annual report
and the Company’s website. Save as disclosed in the section
of "Directors’ Profile’, none of the Directors has any financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationships
among members of the Board.

AEEETHBNEFSORERANX - EF
SEBARANEBRIEREE - UERES
SHRBERARBARMER - WIELABOR
R-BREHETAER  RESR  ZENME
XAEMERAE - TAEENREFB LK
EZHNBERINAFERETAEZFEI2AIE
EENIRAREE - BRIEEZN |-
BEEI MEEFHREZGNEHATMH
% BE REREMEAKABBRE -

The Board
Exs

5 Executive Directors
HITEF

1 Non-Executive Director

HHUTEE

3 Independent non-executive Directors

BUHBITEE

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each
Director having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate
and strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant
to the business of the Group. All Directors bring a variety of
experience and expertise to the Company.

Executive Directors

BTES

Position

B

EEENKESAENME  MEBREZHRASE
BEAMEEBHEBERSITENG  2=/00
ERRBABIER R SHEPIR - FTEES
HE BN B R S I 5 R PR -

Current Function/Experience

BAIRE &5

Huang Sheng-Shun Executive Director & Chairman

= e HITEERER
Wu |h Chen Executive Director &
RE Chief Executive Officer

HITE S RITAER

o development of corporate
operation and strategies

REENMRENER

o marketing, administration and
financial planning

TTIHMERE - TTERE R TERE
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Position Current Function/Experience

B BATRE a8

Wong Tak Leung Executive Director & ° sales and marketing

=ER Deputy General Manager SHE RITHHERE
BITESFRAIRLRE

Lin Hung-Ming Executive Director & Research & ° research and development

SN Development Director ot k3R

HITESRABLBRBEE

Huang Te-Wei Executive Director & o daily operation of the Group and
== General Manager strategic planning
MITESREKE REEN R B EERKERE

° overseeing the Group's compliance
and internal control matters

EEAKENARRANERER

Non-Executive Director

FHITES
Position Experience/Skill
Bif s8R
Kirk Yang Non-executive Director ° corporate finance, investment,
T IERE FEMITES merger and acquisition,

public relations and institutional
investors relations

XK RE - AOFEIE -
NEBREEBREEBR

Independent Non-Executive Directors

BIKHITES
Name Independence’ Experience/Skill
A BT S5 BRE
Yeung Chi Tat v o auditing and corporate restructuring
BEE Tt ki FEH
Chuang Hong-Jen v o financial and investment
HREC M RIEE
Hsieh Yu v o legal and compliance
A FRRAR

Note 7 : all Independent Non-executive Directors are free from any ~ Afat17 - BB IENITE SE S REMER
business and relationships that could materially interference MR BRETAEER B HE -

with the exercise of their independent judgement.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of the Chairman, Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun and the Chief
Executive Officer (the “CEQ"), Mr.Wu |h Chen are segregated in
order to ensure a clear distinction between the responsibilities
of the Chairman and the CEO.

There are clear demarcations of responsibility and authority
between the Chairman and the CEO which ensure an appropriate
balance of power, increased accountability and greater capacity
of the Board for independent decision-making.

The Chairman focuses on the Group's business and strategic
matters to ensure the Board is operated effectively. In addition,
the Chairman will lead the Board to establish good corporate
governance practices and procedures for the Group.

The CEO is responsible for the marketing, administration
and financial operation and to ensure the approved Group's
strategies are effectively implemented to achieve the goals
of the Group.

Functions of the Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for the oversight of the management
of the Company’'s business and affairs with the goal of
maximizing the long-term shareholder’s value, while balancing
broader stakeholder interests. The Board has the following
main duties:

° determine all the corporate matters;

° be responsible for the management, direction and
supervision of the businesses of the Group; and

° be responsible to ensure the effectiveness on Group’s
financial reporting and compliance.

38 TAYANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED A @ R ER A 7
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The Board has matters reserved for its decisions and these
include:

° the Group's long-term strategy and business plan;

° major capital projects, acquisitions or divestments;

° funding decision of the Group;

° internal control, risk management and compliance; and

° annual and interim financial results and shareholder
communications.

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing day-to-day operations, business strategies
and management of the Group’s businesses to the
Executive Directors, senior management and certain specific
responsibilities to the Board committees.

When the Board delegates aspects of its management and
administration functions to the management, it has given clear
directions as to the powers of management, in particular, with
respect to the circumstances. While allowing management
substantial autonomy to run and develop the business, the
Board plays a key role in structuring and monitoring the reporting
systems and internal controls. The composition, functions of
each Board committee and their major role and function are
described below. The final decision still rests with the Board
unless otherwise provide for in the terms of reference of
relevant committees.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Independent Non-executive Directors bring a wide range
of skills and business experience to the Group. They also bring
independent judgment on issues of strategy, performance and
risk through their contribution to Board meetings and to the
Board’s committee meetings.

In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, there
are three Independent Non-executive Directors representing
one-third of the Board. Among the three Independent Non-
executive Directors, one of them have appropriate professional
qualifications in accounting or related financial management
expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

EE2ARRAENEERRE
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The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-
executive Directors the written confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company,
based on such confirmation, considers Mr. Chuang Hong-Jen,
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat and Mr. Hsieh Yu to be independent.

The independence of each Director is reviewed annually by the
Nomination Committee based on the definition of independence
defined in the HKEX Code. The Nomination Committee is
satisfied as to the independence of Mr. Yeung Chi Tat,
Mr. Chuang Hong-Jen and Mr. Hsieh Yu, all of whom do not
have any relationship perceived to interfere with the exercise
of their independent business judgement with a view to the
best interest of the Company.

Directors’ Appointment, Re-election and
Removal

Each of Executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a period of three years commencing from
16th May 2007 and subject to a termination by the Company
giving not less than 3 months’ prior written notice.

Mr. Kirk Yang has re-designated from Executive Director
and chief financial officer to Non-executive Director on
1st February 2009. He has entered into a formal appointment
letter with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 1st February 2009, subject to a termination by either party
giving not less than one month's prior written notice.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has entered
into a formal appointment letter with the Company for a term
of three years commencing from 16th May 2008, subject to
a termination by either party giving not less than one month's
prior written notice.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association,
all Directors (including Executive Directors, Non-executive
Director and Independent Non-executive Directors) are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
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Board meetings and Board Practices

The Board has scheduled to meet at least four times a year, and
the Board will also meet on other occasions when a board-level
decision on a particular matter is required. The meetings are
structured to allow open discussion. All Directors participate in
discussing the strategy, operational and financial performance
and internal control of the Group.

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary"”) assists the Chairman to prepare the agenda of
the meeting and each Director may request to include any
matters in the agenda. Generally, at least 14 days' notice is
given for the regular meetings by the Company. All substantive
agenda items have comprehensive briefing papers, which are
circulated at least 3 days before each Board meeting.

The Company Secretary is responsible for distributing detailed
documents to Directors prior to the Board meetings to ensure
that the Directors are able to make informed decisions regarding
the matters discussed in the meetings so that they may receive
accurate, timely and clear information.

All Directors may access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary who regularly updates the Board on
governance and regulatory matters. The Company Secretary
is also responsible for ensuring the procedures of the Board
meetings are observed and providing the Board opinions on
matters in relation to the compliance with the procedures of
the Board meetings.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered by the Board, the Company
will not dealt with the matter by way of written resolution or
by a Board committee (except if that Board committee was
specifically established for such purpose). The Independent
Non-executive Director with no material interest in the matter
will attend the meeting to deal with the matter if it is considered
appropriate. Other than the exceptional allowed under the
Listing Rules, any Director who or whose associates have any
material interest in any proposed Board resolutions will not be
counted as a quorum in the relevant Board meeting or no vote
for the Board resolutions.

All the Board committees adopted the same principles and
procedures used in the Board meetings.
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The following table shows the number and the attendance
records of the regular Board meetings held during the year:

TREINFAGHETHESEERNHA R
HE A

Directors’ Attendance
EEHERE

Executive Directors HITESE

Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun =R AE 4/4

Mr. Wu Ih Chen REBEE 4/4

Mr. Lin Hung-Ming MRS A 4/4

Mr. Wong Tak Leung EEREE 4/4

Mr. Huang Te-Wei EEESTE 3/4

Non-executive Director FHITESE

Mr. Kirk Yang* 15 FE B 5t A * 4/4

Independent Non-executive Directors BV HEHTEE

Mr. Yeung Chi Tat R ER L 4/4

Mr. Chuang Hong-Jen HRICEE 2/4

Mr. Hsieh Yu Fra T E 4/4
* Mr. Kirk Yang re-designated as Non-executive Director on  * HEBEENR_ZTENF-_A—BRATRFE

1st February 2009.

Access to Information

The management will provide the Board with appropriate
and sufficient information through financial reports, business
and operational reports and budget statements in a timely
manner to keep them informed the latest development of the
Company.

The Directors are also provided with names and contact details
of the Company’s senior management and the Company to
facilitate director access to senior management and the
Company Secretary.

y Continuing Professional Development

The Directors are provided with continuing training in areas
such as corporate governance, financial reporting, the PRC
tax updating, changes in Listing Rules so as to update and
refresh them on matters that affect or may enhance their
performance.
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Any Director may request the Company to provide independent
professional advice at the expense of the Company to discharge
his duties to the Company.

Introduction tailored kit will be given to a newly appointed
Director to his individual needs. This includes meetings with
senior management to enable him to have better understanding
of the Group's business and strategy and the key risks and
issues.

) Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

The Company has renewed Directors’ and Officers' liabilities
insurance for all the Directors and the senior management of
the Company for the year 2009/2010. The insurance covers
them against costs, charges, expenses and liabilities incurred
arising out of the corporate activities.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties, the Board
has delegated specific functions to five Board Committees. The
principal committees of the Board are the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee, Compliance
Committee and Executive Committee, details of which are as
follows:

EAEFGREZRARFIRMBIEXRER -
MAXGHRAREEE  NBETESFHARF
MBS -

METEER L THAREEARTENEN
x BHRESLATEESEHE  WERHHAE
B XN LRSI EAREREAE
RANT R o

EERSRBENE TR

RZZZNE/ ZZT—ZFFE  ARREA
HAAEE R EREREE NS E
WETRR - ZSRRABLEEH LAELN
BA - BR BAXRETRBERE-

EXZET

EEENAAEEZESRIRETHE - AE
EEEUTERY  c T2EFREERERZE
Eg HMEZEe RELZBg GHRERE
RHTREE  FRBEEIWT -

Committee membership

ZEEHRE
Audit Nomination Remuneration Compliance Executive
Committee ~ Committee =~ Committee = Committee = Committee
ENEZER® REZER FMEEE SHZER HTZE®
Huang Sheng-Shun* e 0
Chuang Hong-Jen N 0 0 0)
Hsieh Yu H 0) 0) 0
Huang Te-Wei EER o) 0
Yeung Chi Tat Bz o) 0) 0] 0]
Chan Oi Fat BE% 0 0]
Wu Ih Chen* REM 0 0
Wu Pei Min RITR 0
* Wu |h Chen was appointed as member of Compliance Committee ~ * REBRELCER_ZTNFNA—BEZTAR
on 1st August 2009. BIREEGKE -
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A copy of each Committee’s terms of reference is available
from the company secretary of the Company.

* Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun was replaced by Mr. Wu |h Chen as a

member of Compliance Committee on 1st August 2009.

Audit Committee
Composition

The Audit Committee was established on 16th May 2007
and comprises three members, all are Independent Non-
executive Directors namely Mr. Yeung Chi Tat (Chairman),
Mr. Chuang Hong-Jen and Mr. Hsieh Yu. During the vyear,
the role of the members remains unchanged. The Financial
Controller also attended meetings by invitation.

The Audit Committee met two times during the year, the
attendance of the committee members are shown as the
following table:

BEZESNBEREE AR RARFH QA
WEZRE

* RZZBZAFENA—RB REALLEEES
%%Eﬁﬁ%%ﬁéé\ K&

ERZEGN _TZTLFHATREKY - H
=EKEAK  REDRBILIFRITES - A
SEESE(ER)  HECRERMEEL -
FA- KENBERFIE - MRS TIER
H:Ilr_au#h"

ERZEENFANAAMAER - TREBTRZ
e B M HFELE -

Attendance/Total Meetings

HERE HRAR

Yeung Chi Tat H5E
Chuang Hong-Jen R
Hsieh Yu Firs

2/2
0/2
2/2

The Audit Committee’s responsibilities include the following:

. review the integrity of financial reports;

o monitor the effectiveness of the Group's internal control
and risk management system; and

o consider the independence of the external auditors.

Further details on the work of the Audit Committee for the year
2008/2009 could be found under “Audit Committee Report”
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Remuneration Committee
Composition

The members of the Remuneration Committee are
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat (Chairman), Mr. Chuang Hong-Jen and
Mr. Hsieh Yu, of whom are all Independent Non-executive
Directors.

The Remuneration Committee met two times during the year,
the attendance of the committee members are shown as
following table:

Yeung Chi Tat BEE
Chuang Hong-Jen HRZ
Hsieh Yu AR

FMEES
A

FMZBERBABTERLE(ZRE)  HEC
FTERMBELE - 2HMARBUIFATES °

FMZBRERNFRNAMMARE  TRERZ
ZEERBMHFELE -

Attendance/Total Meetings

HERE HRAR

2/2
1/2
2/2

The responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
the following:

o determine on behalf of Board, the Group’s remuneration
policy for the Executive Directors and the senior
management team of the Company;

° consider and advise on the terms of any contract to be
offered to a director; and

o monitor the remuneration package of senior management
team and make recommendation.

Further information of the Remuneration Committee's activities
is contained in “Remuneration Committee Report”

Nomination Committee
Composition

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, all are
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yeung Chi Tat
(Chairman), Mr. Chuang Hong-Jen and Mr. Hsieh Yu.

The key objective of the Nomination Committee is to ensure the
Board comprises individuals with requisite skills, experience to
ensure that it is effective in discharging its responsibilities.

FHZEEMBERRBWT

s RREZSEETEAUWARANTESER
= AR TR FE 1B R O SR B B R

« HERRBEAEFRENOETS 0K
%R

«  EREMEEEEBAOTMEL LS
e -

FHZE e ERHE - THBHERIFHE

BEgmE] -

REREE

A%

REZREH-AMBEN  REUBBIHE
PITES - MBRERE(ER)  EECKE
RSt -

REZBENTRREREREFTSHERM
TR R AR E RS ARRK - PAREREL A TT

B -
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Attendance at Nomination Committee Meeting is as follows:

REZBEEZMHOFLEFET

Attendance/Total Meetings

HERE FRAR

Yeung Chi Tat BEE
Chuang Hong-Jen HRC
Hsieh Yu Hirs

11
0/1
1/1

The criteria for appointment of a new director are set out
herein below:

i) assess the independence in case of an Independent
Non-executive Director;

ii) possess core competencies that meet the needs of the
Company; and

i) be able to commit time and carry out duties and
responsibilities.

During the year, no new director has been appointed by the
Company.

The Nomination Committee leads the process and makes
recommendations of the appointment of a new director to
the Board as follows:

i evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge and experience
on the board and determine the role and desirable
competencies for a particular appointment in consultation
with the management;

ii. conducts a review with the potential candidate to
assess suitability and to ensure that the candidates are
aware of the expectations and the level of commitment
required.
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Nomination Committee Activities during the year

Significant matters discussed by the Nomination Committee
are summarized as follows:

° To assess the re-designation of Mr. Kirk Yang from an
Executive Director and chief financial officer to Non-
executive Director;

° To review nominations for re-appointed of director having
regard to his contribution and performance;

o To review and determine whether a Directoris independent
on an annual basis; and

o To assess effectiveness of the Board.

) Compliance Committee

The Compliance Committee currently comprises Mr. Yeung Chi Tat
(Chairman), Mr. Wu |h Chen, Mr. Huang Te-Wei and
Mr. Chan Oi Fat.

Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun ceased as a member of the Compliance
Committee and Mr. Wu |h Chen was elected a member of
Compliance Committee, all with effect as of 1st August 2009.

The overall responsibility of the Compliance Committee is to
ensure that the Group comply with all the relevant rules, laws
and regulation as set in different jurisdiction and Listing Rules
of Hong Kong.

Compliance Committee Activities during the year

The Compliance Committee met four times during the year,
The major activities undertook by the Compliance Committee
are as follows:

° oversee the financial, legal, statutory and listing
requirement, internal control and corporate governance
practices of the Group;

° establish the Group policy and procedures for independent
professional advice;

° approve and adopt the “Share Repurchase Policy”; and

° approve and adopt the “Code of Ethics and Securities
Transaction”

BEZEEEFANEE
RBE WREANFHEBMANT ¢

:A*
/\Elﬂ

s HEZBEBELERNITESRUFELR
BERIFATES

s REEZEE=NAERMERRBFHER
%
s BERMIBFEFNHIME K

FREFRIEN -

EHREEE
AEHREZECSENABABEELEA(ER)
REPSLE EERECERERE R LR -
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y Executive Committee

An Executive Committee was established on 3rd September 2007
(the “Executive Committee”) with specific written terms
of reference and comprises five members, by whom three
are Executive Directors, namely Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun,
Mr. Wu |h Chen, Mr. Huang Te-Wei, Mr. Chan Oi Fat and
Ms. Wu Pei Min.

The Executive Committee is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Group's businesses, the overall financial
performance of the Group in fulfillment of strategy, plans and
budgets and the Group capital expenditures as defined in the
terms of reference.

The Committee reports on these topics on its own conclusions
and recommendation to the full Board.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and Auditors’ Acknowledgement

The Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31st July 2009. The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities
for preparing the accounts and presenting a balanced, clear and
comprehensive assessment for the Company’s performance,
position and prospects. The Directors are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the Company'’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

Messrs. SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited acknowledged
their reporting responsibilities in the auditors’ report on the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st
July 2009.

Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited (“SHINEWING")
was appointed as the Group's auditors until the conclusion of
next annual general meeting.
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During the year ended 31st July 2009, the remuneration paid
or payable to SHINEWING in respect of their audit and non-
audit services were as follows:

HE-ZZNFLA=-T—HILEFER  BE
T KR EFFT IR TS B A Sk e T 15 2k 89 Fr B an
™

2009

—EFAhF

HK$°000

FET

Audit services Eit IR 835
Non-audit services AT AR 293
Taxation advisory services Tt 7% B8 ] AR 75 18
Other advisory services B4t B ] AR 75 275
Total: F 1,128

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control systems. The internal control systems are
designed to meet the Group’s particular needs and the risks
to which it is exposed, and by their nature can only provide
reasonable, but not absolute assurance against misstatement
or loss.

Procedures have been set up for safeguarding assets
against unauthorized use or disposition, controlling over
capital expenditure, maintaining proper accounting records
and ensuring the reliability of financial information used for
business and publication. Qualified management throughout
the Group maintains and monitors the internal control systems
on an ongoing basis.

REBEE 1

EXERREARERNEZERARNARL - N
MERARE EREARENRERE MERM
HERORER  EEREEEMR - SR#ERR
MR RERIREAIEMIFBRERE -

AACEYRRFREEEREBAEMARE
B EFEATE - #EE NS L R E
RARER R AMOMFEERORI M - KE
BHAEREREESREEELEERER
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The Company has engaged SHINEWING Risk Services
Limited (“SHINEWING Risk”) to conduct a annual review of
the effectiveness of the Group’s material effectiveness of the
Group's material internal controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management. Audits were
carried out on all significant business units of the Group. The
internal control report is submitted and reviewed by the Audit
Committee. In addition, internal audit's summary of findings
and recommendations are discussed at the Audit Committee
meeting with a view to improve the Group's operations.

To further strengthen the internal control of the Group, control
department is established to provide day-to-day management
of the compliance and control of the Group in order to eliminate
risks of failure of operational systems and the achievement
of the Group's objectives. The control department is currently
headed by Mr. Huang Te-Wei, the Executive Director.

Control department will conduct meeting regularly and work
closely with SHINEWING Risk to monitor the internal control
systems within the Group in order to provide reasonable
assurance as to the effectiveness and efficiency of operations,
integrity and reliability of financial information and to safeguard
and maintain accountability of its assets. Additionally, the
various divisions’ head of the Group met with the head of
Control Department each month to ensure a sound internal
control system is in place and maintained. To enhance the
knowledge of relevant staffs of the Group, training will be
provided to them in the matter of relevant rules and applicable
laws as when appropriate.
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Based on the internal report, the Board is of the view that
the internal controls of the Group are adequate and complied
with the code provision on internal control as set out in the
Listing Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages risk under an overall strategy determined
by the Board. The framework of the risk management comprises
of the following key elements:

o identify and assess of all the risks;

o formulate the risk management strategies;

o design and implement of risk management and plan;

o monitor and report the risk management performance; and

° continuous improvement of risk management and
mitigation action plans.

[ poLicY
B

re

REABHRS  EFER/AKENANIEE
FERIT A BP £ AR R A A BD B 1 <F R A6
\X o

g =g

AEERBEEFEEENERRBEERR -
R EIERER T ERTRAMK

o BRLAHAZATA R

o HIERBREIEEKRE ;

o RETUEREREENTE

o ERYERREREERR K

. SEWER B E IR RORE & R E Y

BEIK

PROCESS
pick3

risk identification, risk assessment
control assessment

risks are identified, assessed and
responsed to responsible person

REEALHER - fHERESER

| ACCOUNTABILITIES
LS

all senior management are
responsible for risk management

RRRRER - BT - EHIET

MERREERARRRER

RISK MANAGEMENT

REPORTING

reporting covers the impact,
effectiveness of control measures to
deal with the risk

BRSO = BE R

FRAMEWORK
BB E R

MONITORING AND
DEVELOPMENT
ERRBR

BRERRNOFE A

the senior management monitors
the risk process and supports and
develops the framework

BREREESERARE -
YERBRER

ASSURANCE

REE

annual assurance is provided

regarding the extent for compliance

with risk management

HEREENSREEREDFRE

Annual Report 2009 — T T /| F F

51

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

EER



Corporate Governance Report

/\_LI_/\—/-\— N

FXE

ARE

The major risk factors assessed by the Group are listed as

follows:

Risk Factors

| B B 3=

AEEFENIEARRZRIINT :

Mitigation

Strategic

R WE

Global economic
downturn and market
volatility
PIREE R R T%5
E e

Increasing
competition
B

Integration of
acquisition

WiEEA

The Group's products could
be curtailed which resulted

in the risk of the operating
performance and financial
stability of the Group
REB A REMERER - B
AEEMEERT R HER
AR R

Significant product
innovations, technical
advances or the intensification
of competition could
adversely affect the Group
BKE m AR - BHRECE SOR
RUF 9 A AN & B E R T A
7

We may not be successful
acquired business and not
reach the full synergy effects
REBE TR BB ETS
W R £ R AR W
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The management worked closely with

the business units to help them to pre-
empt emerging risks and prompt proactive
actions to mitigate any adverse impact

%ﬁéﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%'ﬁ/—\{’ﬁ © DABDIRIER 3 B
g - 3L R BRERAR 1517 B AR AR AL AR )
o

The Group enhanced its research and
development to ensure the introduction of
new products

REB MR - R HER

The management adopted risk
assessment includes macro and project
specific risks analysis encompassing
due diligence, financial modeling and
sensitivity analysis on key investment
assumptions and variables
AI@F%%H b BREBRERER
D MERBES  WBEBERHEEE
?xéf@j‘“&—f"“lﬁﬁ’]@kmr ST
The management is monitoring the
progress of strategic plan and modify the
plan from time to time
B TE B IE B SR AR AT 8l A0 Z I N B DK
P&l
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Risk Factors

[ B B 3=

Operational Risk
EER M

Product liabilities

EmEML

Raw material

REF#

Customer

P

Financial

B3

Exchange Rate
Fluctuation

395

Financing and liquidity
constraints

BENRBE SRS

Legal and Compliance

EBI R BB

Law and regulations

SEDI 3515

A¥hE

Impact
v

Product liabilities claims

could adversely affect our
Company’s business
EmBEETREFMHARAINE
BER A E

Growth in cost and expense
in raw materials changes may
adversely influence the future
results of the Company

RS B SR KL S 38 e B & Al
BEEHARBIRREEERT
Mg

Loss of customers could
adversely affect our business
%ﬁm%T eE R M KB
&2

Exchange rate fluctuation
can have harmful impact on

company
EXEBHEHARREKXNTR

e

Lack of financial capacity
could affect the Group's ability
to conduct its business and
maintain its capital investment
or dividend payments
RN TRAkETELAE
EETEBEREREEARARE
R AR B HI 88

The Group may suffer as a
results of its failure to comply
with all applicable laws and
regulations
REBENGREAREETHAE
U ETIESEEES

Mitigation
PE%

The company has arranged insurance to
cover product liability

ARRERERBARBEEREE

The company aims to maintain long-terms
business relationships with suppliers to
acquire raw material
ARRMERREAHNERERRIELKA
%+ DABVS R

The Company keep in close touch with our
customers and markets and focus effort on
delivery high quality products to them
RAAGEEF RMGETERBEER - WA
REFREEEEM

The Company will closely monitor the
exchange rate risks from time to time

AR BB 7 ) B 2R BE K L B

The Company adopts prudent financing
treasury policy and strict cash
management policy to maintain stable
cash position
RARRBEENRE BB R REENR
SERHE - NERBRORESRR

The control department assists in
identifying, monitoring and providing
support to identify and manage legal risks
across the legal and seek external legal
advisers as and when appropriate

2 EB R Bh RN - BEER MR M S B DA A &
ERBMEENERZRR - ARESENE
1RIE BN AR B
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Benefits of Risk Management A EENES

: . . enhance communication between
support strategic and business planning

ZR AR B T
quick grasp of new opportunities support effective use of resources
R B LB POTENTIAL SR ERERER
BENEFITS OF RISK
MANAGEMENT
reassure stake holders MF“FE E’g~ promote continual improvement
RRRIEH 5 AT REERNEEES BOR NS
fewer shocks and unwelcome surprises help focus internal audit programme

BUEHEREE R AR E AN EI BHEERABELTE

Please refer to the Audit Committee Report for the committee’'s BREZEER_ZTN\EF / —_ZTTHEME
activities in 2008/2009. EJE

Corporate Social Responsibility TELESEMT
Environmental Protection & Safety Measures RERERZZEWR

To support the good environment support, the Group continues ~ AXHRERTIRE - NEBEEHTERS
to pursue a proactive policy in environmental protection and  EE2IRIE{R? é@)ﬁ’]ﬁﬁl%&ﬂ)\ RIPRGIRE
have implemented a series of environmental protection B SRR

practices, details of which are as follows:—

e Dongguan Ta Yang factory and Huzhou factory obtained ¢ B3 AFKEKBAMBFEEEISO 4001

ISO 4001 certification; REE

e Install a discharge and sedimentation tank in our plants ¢ AR AREMEFEBEHEKLBRE UK
to treat domestic sewage before discharging to the RO KZER T H)5 /KR AR IR E )
sewage before discharging to the sewage drains in the V5K
neighbourhood;

e Install noise-barriers in our electricity generalroomsandin ~ ®  EARFHNEERE KFEE RERENR
the plants with air compression equipment respectively; BEoREERER &
and

e install ventilating ducts to collect exhausted gases ¢ ZERXEBREZFENKRELEBES
generated during production processes before emitting FEE’JJ?% RIEBHEL PO o

to the atmosphere.

In addition, the Group emphasizes on safe production measures. b9 - NREB R NETLEEERE © BIEE
These measures include safely tips which set out certain HZ2ER - T2 AERHBMNERZESSE
guidelines on occupational safety such as safely production HHEFEE THELEIES - REHLEE
measures and procedures for handling emergency. In order & * AEBIIAETRPRAPFIGREBELS
to promote the safety awareness, the Group also organizes #53ll - AEB B FHBRERE - UERETHE
induction training and occupational safety training for our staff. &Z&IRIETTIE °

The Group has regularly checked the equipments to ensure the

staff is working at safety place.

54 TAYANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED A ¥ % EiFRE R A 7



Corporate Governance Report

TERERRS

Green Policies

We implement paper recycling policy for papers in Hong Kong
and the PRC offices. Staff are also encouraged to practice
energy saving habits, such as setting their computers to sleep
mode when not in use and using internal communication in
the form of electronic direct mail.

Employee and Social Welfare

The Group places emphasis to retain talent staff by providing
annual bonus and annual dinner in Chinese Lunar Year. Besides,
the Group organize basketball and Tug-of-war sports competition
in October each year to promote the mutual cooperation and
understanding among the staff. There are also corporate
orientation programmes to enable the Mainland staff to better
understand the Group's culture.
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Learning and Development

During the year, the Group organized a training programme
to the staff in the PRC office focusing on the production
management areas. The programme gave them an excellent
opportunity to strengthen their understanding of the functional
areas within the factory in the PRC and strategic direction of the
Group to improve and enhance the efficiency of the Group.

In addition, the Company provides financial subsidies to
employees to attend seminar organized by different professional
bodies with the aims to enhance their technical skills, business
skills and personal strengths.
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INVESTOR AND SHAREHOLDER
RELATIONS

The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining clear,
timely and effective communication with shareholders of
the Company and investors. The Board also recognizes that
effective communication with investors is the key to establish
investor confidence and to attract new investors. Therefore, the
Group is committed to maintain high degree of transparency
to ensure the investors and the shareholders are receiving
accurate, clear, comprehensive and timely information of the
Group via the publication of annual reports, interim reports,
press announcements, and also the Company’s website at
www.tayang.com.

The Board continues to maintain regular dialogue with
institutional investors and analysts to keep them informed
the Group's strategy, operations, management and plans.

The Company’s website is also a source of information for
its shareholders and prospective shareholders. All materials
on annual reports, interim reports and announcements are
available on our website immediately following confirmation
of their release. The contact details of the investor relations
are also available on the Company's website which allows
shareholders to contact the Company easily.

The Directors and the committee members are available to
answer the questions through the annual general meeting.
External auditors are also available at the annual general
meeting to address shareholders’ queries. Separate resolutions
are proposed at general meeting on each substantially separate
issue.

Our investor relations activities include:

° face to face meeting with analysts and fund managers;

° teleconferences with analysts and fund managers;

o financial results briefings with analysts and the media to
coincide with the press release;

° update the Company's website regularly;

° broadcasting relevant information to investors through
the Group's mailing lists;

° holding annual general meetings with shareholders;

o providing disclosed information on a time basis via the
Company and Stock Exchange’s website
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Shareholders’ Right

The Annual General Meeting of the Company (the "AGM")
provides opportunities for the shareholders to meet and raise
questions to our Directors, the management and the external
auditors. At 2008 AGM, we have separated resolutions on each
substantially separate issue including election of individual
Directors. The matters resolved at 2008 AGM are summarized
below:

° receipt of the audited accounts for the year ended
31st July 2008 together with the Reports of the Directors
and the Auditors;

° payment of final dividend for the year ended 31st July 2008;

° election of Mr. Lin Hung Ming, Mr. Wong Tak Leung,
Mr. Huang Te-Wei and Mr. Kirk Yang as Directors;

o re-appointment of SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited as
auditor of the Company and authorization of the Board
of Directors to fix their remuneration;

° approval of granting the general mandate to the Director
to allot, issue and deal with the Company’s shares;

° approval of granting the general mandate to the Board
to repurchase the Company's shares; and

° approval of authorization to Directors to extend the
general mandate to issue new shares by adding the
number of shares repurchased.

In 2009 AGM, all the resolutions will be conducted by poll
so as to allow shareholders to have one vote for every share
held. The results of the voting by poll will be declared at the
meeting and published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company respectively.

Shareholders may put forward their proposals or inquiries to
the Board of the Company by sending their written request to
the Company'’s correspondence address in Hong Kong.

Articles of Association

During the year, there is no significant change to the Company's
Articles of Association.
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Shareholdings Information ERESR

As at 31st July 2009 RZEZNFLA=+—H

Authorised Capital : HK$2,000,000,000 divided into JEEMRE ©2,000,000,000/ T 2
20,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.1 each /420,000,000,0000% & %

0.1/ 8 TTHIAR (9
Issued and fully-paid : HK$80,000,000 divided into 800,000,000 EEfTRAEMA : 80,000,000 T A &

up capital shares of HK$0.1 each

800,000,000/% & %0.17%
TLE AR

The following table summarized the existing shareholding T&RRIIAABHE_EENFLA=+—H
structure of the Company as at 31st July 2009: 1FIR B IR 2R ¢

% of issued
capital of the

Category No. of Shares Company

5l R EE PN

BETRAR

Bak

Controlling shareholders & Directors ERRRENES 437.840,000 54.73%

Strategic Investors' REEIRE A 24,180,000 3.02%

Public & connected persons? NRREEAT? 337,980,000 42.25%

Total st 800,000,000 100%

Notes: st -

1. Strategic investors represented Mitsubishi and Shin-Etsu, which 1. K& & E B D B #H12,180,0000% &

held 12,180,000 shares and 12,000,000 shares respectively.

2. 65,796,000 shares out of 337,980,000 shares are held by certain 2.

connected persons of the Group.

12,000,000 B0 H) = Z K5 -

337,980,000/% % 17 7 #)65, 796,000 % A% 17 H
AEBETHEALIS -
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FMEE R WS

This report provides the details of work undertaken by the
Remuneration Committee (the “RC" or “Committee”) during
the year.

MEMBERSHIP OF THE REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

During the year, the directors who served on the RC were
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat (Chairman), Mr. Chuang Hong-Jen and
Mr. Hsieh Yu. All of them are independent non-executive
directors.

Members of the RC have no personal interestin the Committee's
decisions and they have no conflict of interest arising from
cross directorship.

ACTIVITIES OF THE REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

During the year, the RC met two times and the major business
of those meetings included the following activities:

o conducting the annual review of annual salaries and bonus
(if any) for all executive directors and making appropriate
recommendation to the Board;

o consider and determine the remuneration package
of Non-executive Director and making appropriate

recommendation to the Board;

o recommend the pay adjustment for the year 2009 in
accordance with the remuneration policy of the Group.
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REMUNERATION POLICY FOR DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The remuneration for the executive directors comprises basic
salary, bonus, share options and pensions.

Salary adjustments are made where the Remuneration
Committee takes into account performance of the individual,
contribution, responsibilities and reference to comparable listed
companies in Hong Kong.

The remuneration of Independent Non-executive Director is
reviewed annually with reference to the salary research survey,
comparable companies and market condition.

Apart from basic salary, executive directors and employees are
eligible to receive a discretionary bonus taking into account
factors such as market conditions as well as corporate and
individual's performance during the year.

In order to attract, retain and motivate talented eligible staff,
including the Directors, the Company has adopted a Share
Option Scheme. The scheme enables the eligible persons to
obtain an ownership interest in the Company and thus will
motivate them to optimize their continuing contributions to
the Group.

ELEMENTS OF REMUNERATION

EENEREBEBNEHFMBER

WITESNHFMERELATE - 184 - BiE
KRR -
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AXRBRSFHERME °
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BYREHRE R REIBRRE -

FHESHNTE

Salary Allowances & other benefits

#e o R RAMER

Bonus
TEAL

. Share Options
e

Retirement Scheme Contributions (“MPF")

BRI EISR ([REE])
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The following table illustrates the elements of remuneration

e 315&/__':

TRHBRTESRERELEEMBENT

of Executive Directors and Senior Management =
Remuneration Purpose Delivery Policy Details
40 B I’ B BRI
Basic Salary To reflect the market value e (Cash payment Reviewed annually
ERF& of each individual S ANEA BERF
RMEE AN TR TISER e Monthly Compare against selected
BA comparable companies

Discretionary
Bonus

BB IEAL

Share Option
AR

Pension

RIRE

To motivate employees to deliver
the high levels performance of
the Company and individual
performance goals

HEREB AR RERRKTRE
FMEKBAREBR

® {0 motivate the participants
BE2EE
® 1o aftract and retain the employees

%ol REEEES

e To provide appropriate and
competitive post retirement
benefits

REEE MABRF HOENRER
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The following table shows the breakdown of Directors’
remuneration (in percentage terms) for the year ended
31st July 2009:

TREVINBE_TTNFLA=+—HILHF
FEEEMEHNPRAABRDLRR):

Salary
Allowances Retirement

& other Scheme  Share-based
Fees benefits Bonus Contributions payments Total
ik 5o R AL BINGTEIMEN BB 5 @t

REMER EBROAR
Name Hg % % % % % %
Huang Sheng-Shun ETE - 80.61% 5.89% 0.71% 12.79% 100%
Wu Ih Chen REH - 80.12% 5.85% 0.88% 13.15% 100%
Huang Te-Wei EER - 79.23% 8.82% 1.39% 10.56% 100%
Lin Hung-Ming MR - 80.90% 6.37% 111% 11.62% 100%
Wong Tak Leung HER - 79.04% 6.47% 1.44% 13.05% 100%
Kirk Yang' R 8.19% 86.08% 5.18% 0.55% - 100%
Chuang Hong-Jen N 100% - - - - 100%
Hsieh Yu EiES 100% - - - - 100%
Yeung Chi Tat BEE 100% - - - - 100%

Note: HiaF -

1. Mr. Kirk Yang re-designated from Executive Director and chief 1. GREBEERPTESRUBREATAIE

financial officer to Non-executive Director with effect from
1st February 2009.

Details of the amount of Directors’ remuneration during the
year ended 31st July 2009 are set out in note 17 to the financial
statements and details of the Share Option Scheme and grant
of options by the Company during the year are set out in Report
of the Directors and note 33 to the financial statements.

Members of the Remuneration Committee
Yeung Chi Tat (Chairman)

Chuang Hong-Jen

Hsieh Yu

Hong Kong 26th November 2009
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This report provides details of the role of the Audit Committee
(the "AC") and the work it has undertaken by them during
the year. The main role of the AC mainly assist the Board in
discharging its responsibilities for the integrity of the Group's
consolidated financial statements, the assessment of the
effectiveness of the systems of internal financial controls and
monitoring the effectiveness of internal control the external
auditors.

The members of the AC during the year were:

Mr. Yeung Chi Tat (Chairman)
Mr. Chuang Hong-Jen
Mr. Hsieh Yu

MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE

The Committee met two times during the year. Members’
attendance at the meetings held during the year is set out
on page 44. The financial controller and the external auditors
normally attended the meeting by invitation.

SUMMARY OF MAJOR WORKS DONE
DURING THE YEAR

During the year, the major works done by AC were summarized
as follows:

° reviewed with the management and the external auditors
on the interim results and annual consolidated financial
statements and related announcement including the
related disclosures, integrity of financial reporting and
the accounting policies adopted by the Company prior
to the submission to the Board's approval;

° considered the external auditors’ audit plan and any
significant areas of judgement;

° reviewed the pre-approved internal audit activities of the
Group;

° considered and pre-approved the resignation and re-
appointment of auditors and their audit fee accordingly;
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° reviewed, assessed the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control and risk management;
and

° reviewed and monitored the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
during the audit process.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The AC has reviewed with the management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and the financial
reporting matters including a review of the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31st July 2009.

INTERNAL CONTROL

During the year, the AC engaged SHINEWING Risk Services
Limited (the “SHINEWING Risk"”) to conduct the internal control
review of the Group’s operation and made recommendation
to the Board accordingly. Based on the report issued by
SHINEWING Risk, the AC considered that the key areas of the
Group's internal control systems are reasonably implemented
and the Group has compiled with the requirements of the
CG code as set out in the Listing Rules in respect of internal
control.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The AC reviewed the independence of SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited and recommended their re-appointment as auditors of
the Group for the financial year 2009/2010 in the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

Members of Audit Committee
Yeung Chi Tat (Chairman)
Chuang Hong-Jen

Hsieh Yu

Hong Kong 26th November 2009
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Report of the Directors

EESHES

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report
and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31st July 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Company's principal subsidiaries are
design and manufacture of silicone rubber input devices which
are mainly used in 4Cs (i) Consumer (consumer electronic
devices), (i) Computers (keypads for computers and notebooks)
(i) Communications (mobile phone handsets) and (iv) Cars
(automotive peripheral products). Particulars of the Company'’s
subsidiaries are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements. The nature of the principal activities of the Group
has not changed during the year.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st July 2009 are
set out in the consolidated income statement on page 95.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK$0.06 per ordinary share, totally HK$48 million. The final
dividend is expected to be paid to those shareholders whose
name appear on the register of members of the Company on
23rd December 2009.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements of the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group spent approximately HK$14,091,000
on additions to property, plant and equipment mainly for the
expansion and enhancement of its production capability.

Details of movements in the Group's property, plant and
equipment during the year are set out in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
172. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 371st July 2009, the Company's reserve available for
distribution amounted to HK$661,944,000. Movements in
reserves of the Company during the year and the distributable
reserves of the Company as at 31st July 2009 are set out
in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for about 60.4% of the total revenue of the Group
and the largest customer accounted for about 28.6% of the
total revenue.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's largest
supplier and five largest suppliers taken together accounted for
approximately 10.4% and 28.3% of the Group’s total purchase
for the year.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholder of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors own
more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital) has
any interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers and
customers.
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Report of the Directors
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun (Chairman)

Mr. Wu |h Chen (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lin Hung-Ming

Mr. Wong Tak Leung

Mr. Huang Te-Wei

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Kirk Yang (re-designated on 1st February 2009)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chuang Hong-Jen
Mr. Hsieh Yu
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat

Pursuant to Article 87 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. Chuang Hong-Jen, Mr. Wu Ih Chen and Mr. Yeung Chi Tat
will retire by rotation at the AGM. Being eligible, Mr. Wu |h Chen
and Mr. Yeung ChiTat, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. Mr. Chuang Hong-Jen has
informed the Board of his intention of not seeking re-election
and will retire from the Board with effect from the conclusion
of the forthcoming annual general meeting.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS’ CONFIRMATION

The Company has received from each of the Independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence to Rule 3.13 of The Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rule”) and
as at the date of this report still considers that all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at 31st July 2009, none of the Directors proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are
recommended by the Remuneration Committee, and decided
by the Board, as authorized by shareholders in the annual
general meeting, having regard to the Company's operating
results, individual performance, experience, responsibility,
workload and comparable market securities. No Director is
involved in deciding their own remuneration.

The Company has adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme
and a post-IPO share option scheme as an incentive to the
Directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme is set
out under the heading “Share Option Schemes"”

Details of the remuneration policy for the Directors and senior
management of the Group are set out in Remuneration Report
under the heading “Remuneration Policy”

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors of the Company
and the five highest paid individuals of the Group during the
year under review are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVFE’
INTERESTS

Directors’ Interests

As at 31st July 2009, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the Chief Executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance of Hong Kong,
Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong (“SFO")) as recorded
in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed issuer (the “Model Code”)
contained in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”),
were as follows:
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(A) Long positions in Shares and underlying Shares in the Company

RE R R G RIGER G HIFE
Number of shares/underlying shares held
in the Company
REARRENRE,HEBERHEA
Approximate
percentage
Equity of issued
Capacity in derivatives share capital
which interests Interests (Share Total of the
Name of Director  are held in shares Options) interests Company Note(s)
Esps BERRZNFH ROERE RATEIR BHEH EARRT i3
(BBR#E) BRITRAEH
BHES
Huang Sheng-Shun  Settlor of Huang Trust/ 413,940,000 - 421,990,000 52.75% 1103
bR Beneficial Owner 7500,000 550,000
BRERETA/
BHEAA
Wu Ih Chen Beneficial Owner 1,000,000 455,000 1,455,000 0.18% 4
REH ERBEAA
Lin Hung-Ming Beneficial Owner 9,640,000 320,000 9,960,000 1.25% 5
MR BB
Wong Tak Leung Beneficial Owner 5,760,000 275,000 6,035,000 0.75% 5
HER ERBEAA
Huang Te-Wei Beneficiary of 413,940,000 - 414,170,000 51.77% 6&7
DR Huang Trust/ - 230,000
Beneficial Owner
EREEXAA/
BREAA
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Notes:

Huang Trust is a discretionary trust, of which
Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun is the settlor, Homelink Venture
Corp. (“Homelink”) is the trustee and family members
of Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun (including Mr. Huang Te-Wei)

are beneficiaries.

The 413,940,000 shares, representing approximately
51.74% shareholding of the Company, are directly held
by the following seven British Virgin Islands companies

("7 BVI Companies”) in aggregate as follows:

ez -

BERNGEAREEGR EBRLELE
% % 7 A ' Homelink Venture Corp.
([Homelink]) B1EFEA - MERZETAE
WREKNB(BREEEHEE) RE R
Ao

#%413,940,0000% % 15 + B AR R A 49
B174% M ARE - AL T EREBE X
HERAR([TREBRZESARDE
ETERERE - HBWT -

Approximate

percentage

of issued

No. of share capital of

Name of the 7 BVI Companies Shares held the Company
IRKBELZBEELAER FEROHE EERARE BT
RENMNED L

Ace Chain Investments Corporation (“Ace Chain”) 149,100,000 18.64%
China Gain Holdings Limited (“China Gain") 103,560,000 12.94%
Highwise Investment Group Corporation (“Highwise”) 57,600,000 7.20%
Join Success Business Inc. (“Join Success”) 34,560,000 4.32%
Jumbo Regent Investment Limited (“Jumbo Regent”) 34,560,000 4.32%
Master Rich Business Limited (“Master Rich”) 28,800,000 3.60%
Million Era Holding Corporation (“Million Era") 5,760,000 0.72%
Total 485+ 413,940,000 51.74%

The 7 BVI Companies are respectively 100% owned
subsidiaries of Acuwake Enterprises Limited (“Acuwake”).
Acuwake is 100% owned by Homelink as trustee of Huang
Trust. Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun is the settlor of Huang Trust
and accordingly is taken to be interested in such shares.
Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun is also a director of each of the
7 BVI Companies.
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The 550,000 shares represent shares exercisable
pursuant to options granted to Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun on
16th May 2007 under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
of the Company and which is exercisable at a price of
HK$2.20 per share during the period from 8th June 2008
to 15th May 2017

The 455,000 shares represent shares exercisable
pursuant to the options granted to Mr. Wu Ih Chen on
16th May 2007 under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
of the Company and which is exercisable at a price of
HK$2.20 per share during the period from 8th June 2008
to 15th May 2017.

320,000 shares and 275,000 shares are shares exercisable
pursuant to the options granted to Mr. Lin Hung-Ming
and Mr. Wong Tak Leung, directors of the Company
respectively on 16th May 2007 under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme of the Company and which is exercisable
at a price of HK$2.20 per share during the period from
8th June 2008 to 15th May 2017.

Mr. Huang Te-Wei is a son of Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun and
a beneficiary of Huang Trust. As such, Mr. Huang Te-Wei is
taken to be interested in the same block of 413,940,000
shares held by the 7 BVI Companies.

The 230,000 shares represent shares exercisable
pursuant to the options granted to Mr. Huang Te-Wei on
16th May 2007 under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
of the Company and which is exercisable at a price of
HK$2.20 per share during the period from 8th June 2008
to 15th May 2017.

7%550,000% #5 A] 171 e {0 BIAR &
RRRERNREEBRETER
“EREERATRARTERBREL
HBEEMSMAD - AREBRER
RZZZNFRANBE-ZT—LF
FA TR AHEZER2. 208 TTHER
Ik -

455,000/ 5 AT 1T I 1 - B AR #%
RABERAFEERERETE R
—EEHFRATAARTRESN L
WEEREMSHRGD - BRAEREY
RZEBEENFEFRNANHBEZE=_Z—+tF
AT HBEEEER2. 208 TTHERS
111E -

#320,000% %2275,0000% & 7] 17 f fi%
3 - BMRBARR HERAFREEHER
BN —ETLFRATRNEN AR
FTHEBEERERREENBREND
SoD - BREBRETR _ZTNF
NRANBEZZ—+FHA+HBHH
BER2. 208 TTHOBBITE -

HERTEAEBRLIENT T LA
HEKEAMTZEREA Bt - BEEELE
WRARHIZREBELZBEENREA
) [ —#£413,940,0008% B% {5 h 4 & 1
#%230,0000% 8 ] 17 1 p& 10 - BDAR 3%
AARBERAFEBEERBREASSN
—ETHFRATABRTEERLE
RS E M SRR, - BREREREA R
—EEN\FANANBE-_ZE—LERA
+ A A HRE B R 2. 208 ST (B
1TfE o
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Name of Director

E=pn

Name of
associated
corporation*

BEzEER

Report of the Directors
EEEHL

Capacity in which
interests are held

BRREN S0

(B) Interest in associated corporations of the Company

Class of shares

435

Percentage of
the relevant

Huang Sheng-Shun
W

Homelink as trustee
of Huang Trust

Homelink{EA =K
fEREAEFEA

Acuwake

Ace Chain

China Gain

Settlor of Huang Trust
BREENERTA

Settlor of Huang Trust
BEREENERTA

Settlor of Huang Trust
BREANEZTA

Settlor of Huang Trust
EREANETIA

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED A/ & EZER AR AR

Ordinary shares of
US$1.00 each

FAR1.00%TH)
Lk

Ordinary shares of
US$1.00 each

FR1.00ETH
Lk

Ordinary shares of
US$1.00 each

S%1.00ETH
Limik

Ordinary shares of
US$1.00 each

SH%1.00%TH
LAk

associated

Number corporation’s
of shares issued
interested  share capital
REREN LEREELE
ROHE EBBRIREH
BO

1 100%

1 100%

1 100%

1 100%
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Percentage of
the relevant

associated
Name of Number corporation’s
associated Capacity in which of shares issued
Name of Director corporation* interests are held Class of shares interested  share capital
BEpg HEEB AR FEERNEH BRAER BEREN HEEAEZE
RABE ERITREHN
BOl
Huang Sheng-Shun Highwise Settlor of Huang Trust ~ Ordinary shares of 1 100%
R BEREENETA US$1.00 each
SHR1.00ETH
Join Success Settlor of Huang Trust ~ Ordinary shares of 1 100%
BEREANZIA US$1.00 each
FM1.00E7TH
TR
Jumbo Regent Settlor of Huang Trust ~ Ordinary shares of 1 100%
BEREANEZTA US$1.00 each
FHR1.00ETH
LiEk
Master Rich Settlor of Huang Trust ~ Ordinary shares of 1 100%
BEREANEZTA US$1.00 each
BiR1.00ETH
LBk
Million Era Settlor of Huang Trust ~ Ordinary shares of 1 100%
BREENRTA US$1.00 each
BR1.00ETH)
ERK
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Percentage of
the relevant

associated
Name of Number corporation’s
associated Capacity in which of shares issued
Name of Director corporation* interests are held Class of shares interested  share capital
EEpg HEEB AR FEERNEH BRAER BEREN HERAEZE
RABE EBITREMN
BOl
Huang Te-Wei Homelink as trustee  Beneficiary of Ordinary shares of 1 100%
HEH of Huang Trust Huang Trust US$1.00 each
Homelink{FRER ~ ERGENREA Bik1.00%TH
EFEMETA TR
Acuwake Beneficiary of Ordinary shares of 1 100%
Huang Trust US$1.00 each
BEREANZHEA FHR1.00% T8
Lk
Ace Chain Beneficiary of Ordinary shares of 1 100%
Huang Trust US$1.00 each
BEREENRRA FM1.00E T
China Gain Beneficiary of Ordinary shares of 1 100%
Huang Trust US$1.00 each
BEREENZEA FiR1.00E LA
Highwise Beneficiary of Ordinary shares of 1 100%

Huang Trust
BEREANZEA
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Percentage of
the relevant

associated
Name of Number corporation’s
associated Capacity in which of shares issued
Name of Director corporation* interests are held Class of shares interested  share capital
Esps HEEB AR FEERNEH BRAER REREN (HEREYLE
RABE ERITREHN
BOl
Huang Te-Wei Join Success Beneficiary of Ordinary shares of 1 100%
HER Huang Trust US$1.00 each
BEREANZRA SHR1.00%TH
Jumbo Regent Beneficiary of Ordinary shares of 1 100%
Huang Trust US$1.00 each
BEREANZHEA FAR1.00%TH)
Lk
Master Rich Beneficiary of Ordinary shares of 1 100%
Huang Trust US$1.00 each
BEREENRRA FR1.00%TH)
LiEk
Million Era Settlor of Huang Trust ~ Ordinary shares of 1 100%
BEREANEZTA US$1.00 each
FRR1.00ETH
EEk
* Note: *ffat

For details of the corporate structure of each of the associated
companies, please see notes 1 to 2 of the sub-section headed
“(A) Long positions in Shares and underlying Shares in the
Company” under the section headed “Directors’ and Chief

Executive's Interests” in above.

BB ERFANEEREFE  #2HL
N[EERTETRABMNER | A TA)
AR R R AR BB 89 47 B 3 B R BT =

122
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31st July 2009, none of
the Directors and the Chief Executive of the Company
nor their respective associates had any interest or short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporation
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company maintains two share option schemes, namely
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme for the purpose of recognising the contribution
of certain executive directors and employees of the Group and
retaining them for the continual operation and development
of the Group. Both schemes were approved by the written
resolutions of the sole shareholder passed on 16th May 2007
and had a life of 10 years from its adoption.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may at its discretion,
offer any employee (including any Executive Director) of the
Group, options to subscribe for shares in the Company subject
to the terms and conditions stipulated in the two schemes.

The Pre-IPO Share Options
(@) Purpose of the Scheme

The Company adopted the Pre-IPO share option scheme
on 16th May 2007 (" Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme").The
purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan is to recognise
the contribution made by the executive directors and the
employees of the Company prior to the listing of shares
of the Company on Stock Exchange.
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(b)

(c)

(@)

(e)

SRS

Participants of the Scheme

Pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the
Company may grant options to any full-time or part-time
employee of the Company and/or any its subsidiaries,
including any Executive Director of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries but excluding any Non-executive director
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Total number of shares available for issue under
the Scheme

The total number of shares in respect of the Scheme
may be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
is 9,070,000 shares.

The maximum number of shares of the Company which
may be issued upon exercise of outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme of the
Company shall not exceed 30% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum entitlement for any one participant is that
the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted to
each participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12 months period must not exceed 1% of
the total number of shares of the Company in issue.

Time of exercise of options

An option granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
is exercisable at the subscription price of HK$2.20 per
Share (subject to adjustment and vesting period). If a
grantee does not cease to be Participant from the date
of grant of options (i.e. 16th May 2007) to him up to
the business date immediately prior to the date of the
1st anniversary (“Anniversary”) of the Listing Date, the
grantee may exercise up to 1/5 of the options granted
to him on or after the date of the 1st Anniversary. In the
event that the grantee does not cease to be a Participant
up to the business day prior to the date of the 2nd, 3rd,
4th and 5th Anniversary, he is entitled to exercise an
addition of up to 1/5 of the options granted to him on or
after the relevant date of Anniversary respectively.

(b)

()

d)

(e)

BB EE

RIEBERAFRBEEAERES - A0
B AR R R, H AR E R R
TRz FBESBEARRHEE
KB AR EARITES  EXAAF
S E AL E R B HE R SERTTE SR
BN 3 H BB ACAE

WRIFET B 7] R1THIR (17 A B

RIFERAFZEHBRETS AR
VR0 #8282 /59,070,000 A {7

RATERIEA QB IR LB M ARTTE
MR A T RITHRM BB ERT
SEBANDATRKEETRM AN
30% °

Sl 2HEERRBREN LR

REFR+—BEASERN SH2EER
TTRER LG ERNBRE(REDTE
Kot RTTIE BB ACHE ) T 3877 S T 3877
MR R LR - TRBRAAFE
TR BB 1 % o
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The subscription price per share

The subscription price per share under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme is HK$2.20 per share representing
approximately 37.1% discount to the international offering
price (assuming the offer price is the maximum of HK$3.5
per share).

Payment on acceptance of option

A non-refundable sum of HK$1.00 by way of consideration
for the grant of an option is required to be paid by each
of the grantee upon acceptance of the granted option.

Remaining life of the Scheme

The Pre-IPO Share Option Plan have no remaining life
as no further options may be granted but the provisions
of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall in all other
respects remain in force and effect and options which
are granted during the life on the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme may continue to exercise in accordance with the
respective terms of issue.

On 16th May 2007 the Company granted 9,070,000
options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. No
further options would be granted under the Pre-IPO
Option Scheme on or after the listing date of the Company
i.e. 8th June 2007
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Further details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are BERAREENERETEINE —PF
set out in note 33 to the consolidated accounts of this BERAFERENEAERBMEI3 -
annual report. The movement in such options granted FRN - REBEHBXALAHAEEIERETS
under Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme during the year REMERENSBFBET

were as follows:

Options to subscribe for shares of the Company

TRERA ARG HERE
Category or Balance Granted Lapsed Exercised Balance Exercise period Exercise
name of as at during during during as at (subject to price
grantees 1.8.2008 the period the period the period 31.7.2009 vesting period) per share
S INELE 2 R=ZBN\E  HRERH HREAN  HBAEATE RIZEAE ElR  SROEE
NB-Bih&e tB=+-H (ZERES HKS$
g i) BT
Directors
Bz
Huang Sheng-Shun 550,000 - - - 550,000  08-06.2008 - $2.20
Bhs 16.05.2017
Wu Ih Chen 455,000 - - - 455,000  08-06.2008 - $2.20
REH 16.05.2017
Lin Hung-Ming 320,000 - - - 320,000  08-06.2008 - $2.20
HER 16.05.2017
Wong Tak Leung 275,000 - - - 275,000  08-06.2008 - $2.20
BER 16.05.2017
Huang Te-Wei 230,000 - - - 230,000  08-06.2008 - $2.20
B 16.05.2017
Employees other
participants 5,595,000 - (340,000)" - 5,255,000  08-06.2008 - $2.20 .
EERAMSRE 16.05.2017 &
[a
Total 7425,000 - (340,000) - 7,085,000 '_ELEJ
?@ﬁ (n,:) {0
2
Q@
Notes: Hist - o fih
o i
1) The share options were held by certain grantees who 1) ABTEBRARE  ZEEABRARFADT
ceased to be the employees of the Group during the BRAXEEES -
year.
2)  No share option was granted, exercised or cancelled in 2) FRGBEREEAAHABEIER
accordance with the terms of the Pre-IPO Scheme during BB GERE L - TR EM
the year. FEAR A o
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Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The major terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme adopted
on 16th May 2007 (“Post-IPO Share Option Scheme") were
summarised as follows:

(@) Purpose of the Scheme

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is a share incentive
scheme and is established to recognise and acknowledge
the contribution of the participants. The Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme will provide the participants an opportunity
to have a personal stake in the company with the view
to achieving the following objectives:

o motivate the participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group;
and

° attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going
business relationship with the participants whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-
term growth of the Group.

(b) Participants of the Scheme

Participants of Post-IPO Share Option Scheme include
(i) eligible employees (whether full time or part time
employee including any executive director) of the Group
and any invested entity; (i) any Non-executive director
(including Independent Non-executive directors) of the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or any invested entity;
(iii) any suppliers of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any invested entity; (iv) any customer of the
Group or any member of the Group; (v) any consultant,
advisor, manager, officer or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the Group
or any invested entity.
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(c)

(@)

(e)

T

Total number of shares available for issue under
the Scheme

The total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the total number of shares of the Company
in issue at the date of approval of the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme (i.e. 16th May 2007). The Company may
seek approval of the shareholders in general meeting to
renew the said 10% limit such that the total number of
shares in respect of options that may be granted under
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme or any other share
option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10% of
the total number of shares of the Company in issue as at
the date of approval to renew the limit. Notwithstanding
the above, the maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme and any other share options schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 30% of total number of shares
of the Company in issue from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum entitlement for any one participant is that
the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted to
each participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12 months period must not exceed 1%
of the total number of shares of the Company in issue.
Any further grant of options in excess of the said 1%
limit shall be subject to shareholders’ approval in general
meeting with such participant and his or her associates
abstaining from voting.

Timing of exercise of options

The period during which an option may be exercised will
be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion
and in any event such period shall not be longer than 10
years after the date of grant of the option.

(c)

@)

(e)
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()  The subscription price per share

The subscription price per share in respect of an option
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is
such price as determined by the board of directors of
the Company at the time of the grant of the option, but
in any case the subscription price shall not be lower than
the higher of:

o the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date on which the option is
offered, which must be a business day;

o the price being the average closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the
date of offer of the option; and

° the nominal value of a share of the Company on
the date of offer.

(9) Payment on acceptance of option

A non-refundable sum of HK$1.00 by way of consideration
for the grant of an option is required to be paid by each
of the grantee upon acceptance of the granted option.

(h) Duration of the Scheme

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme will remain in
force for a period of 10 years from its adoption date
(i.e. 16th May 2007). However, the Company may
terminate the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme prior to
such period and in such event no further option may be
granted but options granted prior to such termination shall
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with
the terms of Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.

As at 31st July 2009, no share options have been granted
under the Post-IPO Scheme of the Company.

The other principal terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

and Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in the Prospectus
of the Company.
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HESHE

INTERESTS OF THE SUBSTANTIAL

SHAREHOLDERS

FTERRNVER

As at 31st July 2009, so far as is known to the Directors, the RZZZTNFLA=+—H HESEHMHM - U

following persons have an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company under the provision of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and are recorded in the register

kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

TALTRARBERMHAER DAL RIEES
RERE GBI EXVER 235 B EABMAR
AR T AR RE 75 S B B 15 ) 5336 15 7R AL 8%
RARRGFEMNECMFOERIAR

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares

R REERGD TR

Percentage of

Number interests as
Number of of shares to the issued
shares held in subject to share capital of
Name of shareholder Nature of interests the Company options* Total the Company Note(s)
KRG8/ 2 BRME BEAAARNOHE BRESR Ay EARAFCET MizE
WRAEE* RANEZE AL
Acuwake Controlled corporation of 413,940,000 - 413,940,000 51.74% 1
Huang Trust
BRETEIAT
Homelink Trustee of Huang Trust 413,940,000 - 413,940,000 51.74% 1
EREANETIA
Ace Chain Beneficial interests 149,100,000 - 149,100,000 18.64% 1
Enlkn
China Gain Beneficial interests 103,560,000 - 103,560,000 12.94% 1
Enlkn
Highwise Beneficial interests 57600,000 - 57600,000 720% 1
EnlEn
Huang Sheng-Shun Settlor of Huang Trust/ 413,940,000 - 421,990,000 52.75% 1
Bl Beneficial interest 7500,000 550,000

ERERNETA/

BifEs
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Percentage of

Number interest as
Number of of shares to the issued
shares held in subject to share capital of
Name of shareholder Nature of interests the Company options* Total the Company Note(s)
KRG8/ BRtE BEARARAYA BERESR By EAAFCET ik
wRHEE* RANEZE AL
Tong Mei-Jen Spouse interests 413,940,000 - 421,990,000 52.75% 1
XY RBER 7500,000 550,000
Huang Te-Wei Beneficiary of Huang Trust/ 413,940,000 - 414,170,000 51.77% 6
BER Beneficial interest - 230,000
BREFNEEA/
EnEs
Chao Yu Ting Spouse interest 413,940,000 230,000 414,170,000 51.77% 6
HER iBER
Wu Pei Min Corporate Interests 60,120,000 - 60,215,000 753% 2
RIE NG - 95,000
Beneficial Interests 3
EnfEn
Wu Chung-chieh, Jack Corporate Interests 57600,000 - 57,636,000 72% 4
Rk NGl 36,000 -
Beneficial Interest
EnfEn
Lo Wah Wai Interest in controlled 413,940,000 - 413,940,000 51.74% 185
BER corporation of Homelink
M Homelinki2 #1722 7]
A
Tsang Kwan Li Spouse Interests 413,940,000 - 413,940,000 51.74% 5
BEF iEER
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The reference to 413,940,000 shares relates to the same block
of shares directly held by the 7 BVI companies in aggregates
as controlled companies of Huang Trust. For details, please see
notes 1 and 2 of the sub-section headed “(A) Long positions in
Shares and underlying Shares in the Company” under the section
headed “Directors’ Interests” in above. Ace Chain, China Gain
and Highwise are three of the 7 BVI Companies directly holding
such respective shareholding of the Company as disclosed in

above.

Accordingly, Acuwake being the 100% holding company of
the 7 BVI Companies, Homelink as trustee of Huang Trust and
Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun as a settlor of Huang Trust are taken to
have an interest in such shares. Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun is also
beneficially interested in 550,000 shares exercisable pursuant to
optionsgrantedtohimon 16th May 2007 under Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme. Ms.Tong Mei-Jen, the spouse of Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun,
is also deemed to be interested in such shares which

Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun is interested in.

57,600,000 shares out of 60,120,000 shares are beneficially-
owned by Golden King Holdings Business Limited and Joint
Kingdom International Holding Limited which were 50% held
by Ms. Wu Pei Min and 50% held by Mr. Wu Chung-chieh,
Jack. Accordingly, Ms. Wu Pei Min is deemed to have beneficial

interests in all these shares by virtue of SFO.

2,520,000 shares out of 60,120,000 shares were held by Kingstex
Universal Investment Limited, a company wholly owned by
Ms. Wu Pei Min. Therefore, Ms. Wu is deemed to be interest
in all these shares. 95,000 shares represent shares exercisable
pursuant to the options granted to her on 16th May 2007
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and which is exercisable
at a price of HK$2.20 per share during the period from
8th June 2008 to 15th May 2017.

(1)

(2)

(3)

#%413,940,0000% i% {5 5 H 937***%5%11%

EARERE KT B EERE
BRE—#thk G, - BRI I%%;}F)ﬁtﬁr%?ﬁé
| — BB T (AR AR RIRR 19 J 4B B AR 17 /)
2 |» & B M 71 %2 > Ace Chain * China
Gain M Highwise B7R EB iR ﬁﬁ%"ﬁ?ﬂ‘aﬁl
PR SEEERAEXBEBENAR
i

Al AcuwakelE B7TR KB R X BB A A
#1100%%2% f% 2 & * HomelinkfE & & K55
MEFEARERRLEERERETNERT
A HEEARBEROEEER - =R
FERBREETEREERARBESANE
BHEAESR ST LFRA T AERNE
& A T 15 #9550,000 % i 1 R B B i 2 ©
ERRAENRBEEIE LI NBEAR
EBERLERARENZEROFHESR
S o

60,120,000/ A% {1 7 #957,600,000/% A% {7 £
Golden King Holdings Business Limited
MJoint Kingdom International Holding
Limited Bz A - ZM K Q7B RHIR)E
MRPETEERBIER0% - Bt - RIEE

SRR SR MERR RS B
S5 A 2 -

60,120,000 fi% 5 # #92,520,000/% % {5
SomIR/NAZ B AR Kingstex Universal
Investment Limited /& - F itk - R/ E
WERRE2IAZEROPEE#ER -
95,0008k #§ AT 1T B Ak 15 BN AR 3B A A &)
BRANABREAMERESEANR -_ZZ+F
FATABETEREREENBEREMSH
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(5)

The reference to 57,600,000 shares related to the same block of
shares directly held by Golden King Holdings Business Limited
and Joint Kingdom International Holding Limited which were 50%
held by Ms. Wu Pei Min and 50% held by Mr. Wu Chung-chieh,
Jack respectively. Accordingly, Mr. Wu Chung-chieh, Jack is
deemed to have beneficial interests in all these shares by virtue
of SFO.

The entire issued share capital of Homelink is beneficially
owned by Mr. Lo Wah Wai. Ms. Tsang Kwan Li is the spouse of
Mr. Lo Wah Wai. Accordingly, Mr. Lo Wah Wai and
Ms. Tsang Kwai Li are deemed to be interested in the shares
which Homelink as a trustee of Huang Trust is taken be interested

in.

Mr. Huang Te-Wei is the son of Mr. Huang Sheng-Shun and a
beneficiary of Huang Trust. As such, Mr. Huang Te-Wei is taken
to be interested in the 413,940,000 Shares directly held by
the 7 BVI Companies as controlled companies of Huang Trust.
Mr. Huang Te-Wei is also beneficially interested in 230,000 shares
exercisable pursuant to options granted to him on 16th May 2007
under Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. Ms. Chao Yu Ting is the
spouse of Mr. Huang Te-Wei and accordingly is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares which Mr. Huang Te-Wei is interested

in.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st July 2009, the Directors
and the Chief Executive of the Company were not aware of
any person who has an interest or short position in the Shares,
or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who was directly or
indirectly interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances
at general meetings of any other member of the Group.

88 TAYANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED A R B[R A 7

(4) #57600,00008 A% 17 #& HGolden King
Holdings Business Limited }2Joint Kingdom
International Holding LimitedE ERAE®

R —#tief - ZMR AR HIIDRNER
i#f?&f‘ﬁi%@%“ﬁm% ESYl A $ETJ§*’*
LEEED  RPREERBEAREHZE
BihEEEERER -

(5)  Homelink®) 2 2B HITRABEEREEE
WA  BEFMLLTREER ST ENRS -
Hit EEFHEEREEAZTHERAR
Homelink{E & & X5 5E R 5 5E A T B AR VE
BRERHIRDTHERER o

6) EBERLTEAREBRELENZTFRERSE
R mAC Bt EEREERBEER
413,940,000 H7R BB R X E S N /IER
BERGEAEH AR EERENRO T EEE
e BEEREERBRETEREE XAH
BENBERETIN_ZETLFRA+E
TR (0 BB AR T 15 79 230,000% AR 15 5 #E
weo HERRTREERAENRS - Bt
NHEEAREERCERBEEOIERND
R ERER

BEXHEEEIN RZFEFTALFLA
=+—H BESEKARRETBITHABA
Mo WEERATRIRGSKAEERG P HEER
BEA RS GO EXVERE2 3D B IR E A
MARRRBRAFEENERIAR  REE
Sk A M A R Al PMETIE R N EAREE
EAEABRK B A R E RS % Z /0 58 B %
ANEE10% A L o



Report of the Directors
EERES

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was
the Company, any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors or the Chief executives of the Company or any of
their respective spouses or children under 18 years of age to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance, to which the Company, any of
its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a
party and in which a Director of the Company had material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of or at any time during the year, nor had there been any
contract of significance entered into between the Group and a
controlling shareholder of the Company during the year ended
31st July 2009.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, of the Company’s listed securities
during the year ended 31st July 2009.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31st July 2009, in so far as the Directors were aware,
none of the Directors or their respective associates had any
interest in a business that competed or was likely to compete
with the business of the Group.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's articles of association or the laws of Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the
date of this report, there is sufficient public float of not less
than 25% of the Company's issued shares as required under
the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee in compliance
with the Listing Rules. The audit committee comprises of
Mr. Yeung Chi Tat (chairman), Mr. Chuang Hong-Jen and
Mr. Hsieh Yu, all of whom are Independent Non-executive
Directors.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and internal control
system of the Group, and to review the Company’s annual
report and half-yearly reports and to provide advices and
comments thereon to the Board.

The audit committee has reviewed the Group’s annual results

for the year ended 31st July 2009, including the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

During the year, the Directors are of the opinion that the
Company has complied with the code provision as set out in
the Code on Corporate Governance Practices in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in
Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
23rd December 2009 to 29th December 2009, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of Shares will be effected. The
record date for final dividend is 23rd December 2009.

In order to qualify for the final dividend and to attend the
annual general meeting of the Company, the shareholders of
the Company should ensure that all transfers, accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration
with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at 26/F, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on 22nd December 2009.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board are pleased to recommend the payment of a
final dividend of HK6 cents (2008: HK6 cents) per share
for the year ended 31st July 2009, totalling HK$48,000,000
(2008: HK$48,000,000) which is expected to be paid on or
before 13th January 2010 to its shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members on 23rd December 2009
subject to the final approval in the annual general meeting to
be held on 29th December 2009.
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AUDITORS

The accounts for the year ended 31st July 2009 have been
audited by Messrs. SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited, who retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
2009 AGM. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company for the re-appointment
of Messrs. SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited as auditors of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Huang Sheng-Shun
CHAIRMAN
Hong Kong

26th November 2009

Q2 TAYANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED A ¥ % EiFRE R A 7

BB

BE-TZNFLA=THILFENRED
RAEXTM(ER) G EHEMBR AR
Bz 2Rl ER  ENEERBEER
—TRNFRRBFAG LEEER - AR
AEERRBFAE L BIREARARNER
EXPM(ER)GAMEBHERQFHER
NE R BN

RERE=E

B 5F
]
0

—EEHE+—A=+KH



Independent Auditor's Report

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
16/F., United Centre

iAo

Sh[nezomé;

95 Queensway, Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ta Yang
Group Holdings Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 95 to 171,
which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31st July 2009,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
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18 M % SR R

contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 371st July 2009
and of the Group'’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Ip Yu Chak

Practising Certificate Number: P0O4798

Hong Kong
26th November 2009
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Consolidated Income Statement

=] /\ = N2
,?vT\l/:u\ Elﬁﬁ%%

2009 2008
NOTES —EEAF —TEN\F
k=3 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAT
Turnover S 8 620,251 744,908
Cost of sales SHE R (519,193) (531,419)
Gross profit E A 101,058 213,489
Other operating income H & WA 8 17,537 22,224
Selling and distribution expenses HE RS HMAS (28,269) (28,988)
Administrative expenses THAX (94,706) (94,863)
Other net expenses HX F58 10 (8,414) (9,944)
Bad debts written off B H s AR (28,742) (82)
Finance costs B AR 11 - (1,875)
Share of results of an associate DI E N RIS (237) 1,398
(Loss) profit before taxation BrEERT (18 )& T (36,773) 101,359
Income tax expenses iR 12 (2,120) 976)
(Loss) profit for the year FREER) &N 13 (38,893) 100,383
Dividends recognised as FNERE
distribution during the year DIREIAR B 14 48,000 48,000
Basic (loss) eamings per share (HK cents) BREAR(EE)BF(BIL) 15 (4.86) 12.55
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

meBEERER

2009 2008
NOTES —2ENE ZTT)\F
et HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE |
Property, plant and equipment VI - BB MR 18 303,717 302,885
Construction in progress EETIE 19 18,740 12,110
Prepaid lease payments B AERIE 20 58,057 59,854
Available-for-sale investments AEEERE 21 17,086 -
Held-to-maturity investment FAZIHERE 22 11,610 -
Interest in an associate EiopNGIL: Fad 23 1,652 2,643
Deferred tax assets RERITBE 32 888 556
411,750 378,048
Current assets MENEE
Inventories BE 24 108,989 137,921
Trade and other receivables FEWE SR K
E A Y kIR 25 205,331 292,904
Prepaid lease payments B E SRR 20 1,298 1,312
Income tax recoverable AU Bl Fr St 3,066 1,588
Held-for-trading investments FIFEERE 06 598 -
Derivative financial instrument ITETRTA 29 115 -
Deposits with bank HRITFER 27 1,026 -
Bank balances and cash RITESRKERE 27 458,000 487,429
778,423 921,154
Current liabilities MERE
Trade and other payables ERE SRR R
_HABEAERIR 28 68,139 99,182
Derivative financial instrument TESMIA 29 - 827
Income tax payable FERTER1ZHL 50,083 51,085
118,222 151,074
Net current assets MENEEFAE 660,201 770,080
1,071,951 1,148,128
Capital and reserves BAR K FEE
Share capital H§$ 30 80,000 80,000
Reserves G 990,925 1,068,128
Total equity EmEE 1,070,925 1,148,128
Non-current liability FRBEERE
Deferred income 7 SEIA 31 1,026 -
1,071,951 1,148,128

The consolidated financial statements on pages 95 to 171 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26th
November 2009 and are signed on its behalf by:

Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes i

~ A4
N

Share Statutory
Share Share options  Retained  Exchange surplus Legal
capital  premium reserve profits reserve reserve reserve Total
B RHhEE RORBE REEN EXRE EER EERRE Eok
B YN EEn

HK$000  HK$000  HKFO00  HKPO0O0  HKE000  HKF000  HKFO00  HK$O000
FET TET TET AT T FET TET TER
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(Fzx1)  (F¥EE2)

At 1st August 2007 RZZ2+E\F—HB 80,000 659,945 1,400 240,854 18,631 21,128 49 1,022,002
Exchange difference BENE

on translation A7

of financial HBER

statements FAE A

of subsidiaries ELEE - - - - 68,021 - - 68,021
Share of exchange reserve A&

of an associate B R Gl - - - - 238 - - 238

Net income recognised ~ EERMER

directly in equity L ONEES - - - - 68,259 - - 68,259
Profit for the year and ERANRER

total recognised income  ZREARA

and expenses for REZ

the year ik - - - 100,383 - - - 100,383
Appropriation to reserves  ERZ - - - (416) - 416 - -
Equity-settled g

share-based transactions AR5 - - 5,484 - - - - 5,484
Transfer to reserve for SRERE

value of share MEE

option lapsed BRTRE - - (698) 698 - - - -
Dividend declared and FRAERRE

pald during the year KRS - - - (48,000) - - - (48,000)
At 31st July 2008 RZZENE 80,000 659,945 6,186 293,619 86,890 21,539 49 1,148,128

tA=1+-H
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Consolldated Statement of Changes in Equity

GERRBEE

Share Investments  Statutory
Share Share options  Retained  Exchange revaluation surplus Legal
capital  premium reserve profits reserve reserve reserve reserve Total
kx  ROEE RODE  REER  ERBE  REER EEE  EERE ]
B BE  HOES

HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
T Tén T TEn TR TEn TR Téx TExn
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(k) (B2

At 1t August 2008 RZZEN\EN\A—H 80,000 669,945 6,186 293,519 86,890 - 21589 49 1,148,128
Exchange difference on BERBAT

franslation of financial HBRRAES

statements of subsidlaries MERZS - - - - (154) - - - [154)
Increase in fair value of HEHERE

avallable-forsale invesiments MBI - - - - - 7,380 - - 7,380
Share of exchange reseve. AMEBE AR

of an associate & % i - - - - (427) - - - 427)
Net income recogrised ERNMERER

directly in equity fRAFE - - - - (581) 7,380 - - 6,799
Loss for the year and FRABERER

fotal recognised income BRRMAR

and expenses for the year e - - - (33,899) - - - - (33,89)
Appropriation to reserves BERRE - - - (3,333) - - 3,333 - -
Fquity-setfled EmERNRS

share-based fransactions AR5 - - 2,891 - - - - - 2,891
Tansfer to reserve forvale  BLAEREN BE

of share option lapsed BREGE - - (379) 375 - - - - -
Dividend declared and ENERR

paid during the year BRARE - - - 48,000) - - - - (48,000)
At 31st July 2009 RZZEAELA=T-H 80000 669,946 8,702 203,608 86,309 7,380 24,872 49 1,070,925

O8 TAYANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED A &EZEARA A



Notes:

1.

Consolidated Statement of Changes i

Statutory surplus reserve

As stipulated by regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
the Company’s subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC are
required to appropriate 10% of their after-tax-profit (after offsetting prior
year losses) as determined in accordance with the PRC accounting rules
and regulations, to statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance
reaches 50% of the registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must

be made before distribution of a dividend to equity owners.

Legal reserve

In accordance with Macau Commercial Code, the Company’s subsidiary
incorporated in Macau is required to appropriate 25% of its net profit
to a legal reserve until the balance of the reserve reaches 50% of
the subsidiary's registered capital. Legal reserve is not distributable to

shareholders.
Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
The consolidated loss/profit attributable to equity shareholders of the

Company includes a profit of HK$47,365,000 (2008: HK$45,482,000)

which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company.

=~ A 43
N

RIFPEARLMBE(HEDERBE AR
BIFE i BB 7 R A 0 B B X R R AR SR P
B&st AR EREENRR SN (B
FEBBRRIMOVEBREEERRAES &
EZRENEREDFEEMERRILE - BA
R A AD RS AT E R SR -

RBRPIE L - AR RPORPIE MK LA
BRABABOEMAMNNEEERHE  BEE
ZREBHERESINE QB FEME AH50%
EERETEDIR TR

KRBT AREER

AARERFAEARGEREEHR2MEEE

A A 7 B 75 $ 3k PR B A& F147,365,000
BIL(ZZT)\HF : 45,482,000/ 7T) °
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

n\/T\ Iﬁﬁ/)lb%%‘%

2009 2008
—EEThE —ZEENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
OPERATING ACTMITIES RETER
(Loss) profit before taxation AT (B518) & (36,773) 101,359
Adjustments for: AT EEL AR
Finance costs BhE R AN - 1,875
Interest income FLEMA (7,800) (16,607)
Decrease in fair value of derivative PTESRITA
financial instrument NEERD - 827
Loss on derivative financial instrument TAESRITAEE 3,566 1,272
Gain on disposal of held-for-trading LERIEESR
investments wE W= (1,296) (1,149)
Decrease in fair value of held ?virf’lfi%f BIRE
for trading investments NEHERD 24 -
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments AT E RS 1,300 455
Amortisation of deferred income P FE U A 2 5 (23) -
Depreciation of property, Yz - HE &
plant and equipment HRETE 40,360 35,224
Share of results of an associate DIGEEE AR EE 237 (1,398)
Gain on disposal of prepaid lease payments HEEMNHEEFIEN S (1,025) -
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - WE R
plant and equipment HIEBE 53 1,178
Impairment losses recognised PLIEWE 5 R
in respect of trade receivables RBERE 127 552
Bad debts directly written off HEMsEER 23,742 82
Reversal of impairment loss recognised B O E 5 IR
in respect of trade receivables HERAREEE (43) -
Allowance for inventories GFaEEE 4,437 -
Inventories lost in fire RARSIBERNFE 998 -
Government grants T B (312) (264)
Equity-settled share-base payment expenses ez (BT B B B R 3R B 2 2,891 5,484
Operating cash flows before HEESEBAIN
movements in working capital KERSRE 30,463 128,896
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERA () 23,497 (8,594)
Decrease (increase) in trade and FEW R 5 AR SR IR LA
other receivables FEBGRIER A (3E0) 66,313 (38,101)
(Decrease) increase in trade FERE SRF R EHA (32,034) 568
and other payables FERFRIE CRd) &g
Cash generated from operations RELEEFHNRS 88,239 82,769
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid B EEFIEH (317) (3,396)
PRC income tax (paid) refund (BAF) REFRBEAMEH (4,595) 52
NET CASH GENERATED FROM REKETEHN
OPERATING ACTIMITIES ReFH 83,327 79,425

100 TAYANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED A ¥ % B %2R A R A Al



Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

nvj'\/\iﬁﬁlllbi'%:z

2009 2008
—EThEF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FHEIT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETH
Payment for construction in progress EREIRMNK (34,348) (22,914)
Payment for derivative financial instrument PTESBMTAENK (22,440) (1,272)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE - BB MEE (13,100) (49,397)
Purchase of held-to-maturity investment BESEERIEEE (11,610) -
Purchase of available-for-sale investments BEHIERE (9,706) -
Purchase of held-for-trading investments BERBIEFEERA (6,928) (53,910)
Increase in deposits with bank RITFFIE N (1,026) -
Proceeds from disposal of derivative HETESR TAD
financial instrument Frig k18 17,932 -
Proceeds from disposal of held-for-trading HEFEEEREDN
investments FTiS 5118 7,602 55,059
Interest received B U FI 6,770 16,024
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BEMEED
plant and equipment FriS 5018 564 136
Dividends received from an associate Eﬂﬁlﬂ‘y‘?‘%‘*’& AR B 327 321
Purchase of prepaid lease payments BEBENHEENRE - (47,800)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIMITIES ARRETEHNRESFE (65,963) (103,753)
FINANCING ACTMITIES RESER
Dividends paid BEIRE (48,000) (48,000)
Cash received from government grants BB ENR © 1,361 264
Repayment of bank borrowings BEIRITIERN - (50,000)
Interest paid BEFLE - (1,875)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIMITIES ARmETENREFE (46,639) (99,611)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReRESEEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS W EEE (29,275) (123,939)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FINBEEREESEEY
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 487,429 609,255
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXRSHY
RATE CHANGES (154) 2,113
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FRANEESRESEEY
OF THE YEAR, represented by BIRITHEBR RS
pbank balances and cash 458,000 487,429
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N B B

1.

GENERAL

Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office
and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed
in the “Corporate Information” section to the Annual Report.
The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally
engaged in manufacturing and sale of silicone rubber related
products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"). Other than those subsidiaries established
in the People’'s Republic of China (“the PRC”) whose functional
currency is Renminbi (‘RMB”), the functional currency of the
Company and its subsidiaries are HKS.

As the Company is listed in Hong Kong, the directors consider
that it is appropriate to present the consolidated financial
statements in HKS.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments and interpretations (‘new HKFRSs”") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”),
which are or have become effective.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Interpretations  Embedded Derivatives
(“Int") 9 & HKAS 39

(Amendments)
HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements
HK(FRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes
HK(FRIC)-Int 14 HKAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined
Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding
Requirements and their Interaction
HK(FRIC)-Int 18 Transfers of Assets from

Customers

The application of the new HKFRSs had no material effect on how
the results and financial position for the current or prior accounting
periods have been prepared and presented. Accordingly, no prior
period adjustment has been required.

e B R AR Y

R R EETNE B
BHREZEN(EETBRE
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BA(ERBERE RECEETH
2EZE®)
—REE12%

R (BEEHBHRE TP EBEE
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—2REE13%
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—REE145 [REE  HIEERHRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N B B

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
standards, amendments and interpretations that have been
issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)
HKFRSs (Amendments)
HKAS 1 (Revised)
HKAS 23 (Revised)
HKAS 24 (Revised)
HKAS 27 (Revised)
HKAS 32 (Amendments)
HKAS 32 & 1
(Amendments)
HKAS 39 (Amendment)
HKFRS 1 (Revised)
HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27
(Amendments)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)
HKFRS 2 (Amendment)
HKFRS 3 (Revised)
HKFRS 7 (Amendment)
HKFRS 8

HKFRS 9

HK(FRIC)-Int 15

HK(FRIC)-Int 16

HK(FRIC)-Int 17

Improvements to HKFRSs!
Improvements to HKFRSs 2009°

Presentation of Financial
Statements?®
Borrowing Costs®

Related Party Disclosures*

Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements®

Financial Instruments: Presentation
— Classification of Right Issues®

Puttable Financial Instruments and
Obligations Arising on Liquidation®

Eligible Hedged Items®

First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards*
Additional Exemptions for First-time
Adopters’

Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary,
Jointly Controlled Entity
or Associate®

Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations®

Group Cash-Settled Share-based
Payment Transactions®

Business Combinations®

Improving Disclosures about
Financial Instruments®
Operating Segments®

Financial Instruments®

Agreements for the Construction of
Real Estate®

Hedges of a Net Investment in
a Foreign Operation?

Distributions of Non-cash Assets
to Owners®
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

1 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1st January
2009 except the amendments to HKFRS 5, effective for accounting

periods beginning on or after 1st July 2009.

2 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1st January

2009, 1st July 2009 and 1st January 2010, as appropriate.

3 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1st January
2009.

4 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1st January
2011,

5 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1st July
2009.

6 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1st February
2010.

7 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1st January
2010.

8 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1st January
2013.

9 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1st October
2008.

The directors of the Company anticipate the application of these
revised standards, amendments or interpretations will have no
material impact on the results and financial position of the Group
except for the adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) and HKAS 27
(Revised). The adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the
accounting for business combination for which the acquisition
date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting
period beginning on or after 1st July 2009. HKAS 27 (Revised)
will affect the accounting treatment for changes in a parent’s
ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of
control, which will be accounted for as equity transactions.
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TE)FAE 2 B AR K o

3 R-ZZEThF-RA—BRMaszENE
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5 RZIZEThAFLA—BRMaszENE
FHEARI AR -

6 R-ZE-—THF-_A-—HAMBRKZENE
FTHAR A4 -

7 RIT-TFE—-A—BRAkzEHE
STHARG 4 -

8 NRIZE—=F—F—AMRKRZENE
FTHARI R A -
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments,
which are measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved
where the Company has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits
from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated income statement
from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective
date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with those used by other members of
the Group.

Allintra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

(b) Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company's
balance sheet at cost less any identified impairment
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RS R AR Y

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TE@BXE#)

(Continued)

(c) Interest in an associate (c) E’\‘Hﬁ‘f%‘ NEINERE
An associate is an entity over which the investor has tENEE—EREEREBERY
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an 7] MER EHBETRWBAF
interest in a joint venture. IR E BN -
The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are BERNAINER EEREBGEIN
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements HEREMAZEREG W HER

using the equity method of accounting. Under the
equity method, investment in an associate is carried in
the consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted for
post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net
assets of the associate, less any identified impairment loss.
When the Group's share of losses of an associate equals
or exceeds its interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. An
additional share of losses is provided for and a liability is
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of
the Group's interest in the relevant associate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including land and
buildings held for use in the production, supply of goods
and administrative purposes (other than construction in
progress) are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or
for its own use purpose. Construction in progress is carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction
in progress is classified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the
same basis as other property assets, commences when
the assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included
in the consolidated income statement in the year in which
the item is derecognised.

Land use rights

Payment for obtaining land use rights is considered as
operating lease payments. Land use rights are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses, amortisation is charged to consolidated
income statement over the period of the rights using the
straight-line method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated balance sheet when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of four
categories including financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity and
available-for-sale investments. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace. The accounting policies
adopted in respect of each categories of financial assets
are set out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest income is recognised on an effective basis for
debt instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESFHXR#%)

(Continued)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near future; or

° it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designed and effective as
a hedging instrument.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised
directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. At each balance sheet date subsequent
to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, deposits with bank and
pank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment
loss on financial assets below).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities that the Group’s management has the positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity. At each balance
sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-
maturity investments are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment
loss on financial assets below).

Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and loans and receivables
or held-to-maturity investments.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition,
available-for-sale investments are measured at fair value.
Changes in fair value are recognised in equity, until the
investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired,
at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in equity is removed from equity and recognised
in profit or loss (see accounting policy on impairment loss
on financial assets below).

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have
a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are
linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unguoted
equity instruments, they are measured at cost less any
identified impairment losses at each balance sheet date
subsequent to initial recognition (see accounting policy on
impairment loss on financial assets below).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR R AR MY A

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through
profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at
each balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
financial assets have been impacted.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of
impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

° default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
and other receivables, assets that are assessed not to
be impaired individually are subsequently assessed for
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group's past experience of collective payments, an
increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio
past the credit period, observable changes in national or
local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as
the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’'s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment
loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with
the exception of trade and other receivables, where the
carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or loss. When trade and
other receivables are considered uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or
loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment losses was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment 10ss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR R AR MY A

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Impairment losses on available-for-sales equity investments
will not be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss
is recognised directly in equity. For available-for-sale
debt investments, impairment losses are subsequently
reversed if an increase in the fair value of the investment
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
recognition of the impairment loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all
of its liabilities. The Group's financial liabilities are generally
classified as other financial liabilities and derivative financial
instruments.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments through the expected life of the financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at each balance sheet
date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and
effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing
of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature
of the hedge relationship.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised directly
in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N B B

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(9) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average
method.

(h) Impairment losses

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

() Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold in the normal course of business, net of
discounts and sales related taxes.

i)  Sale of goods

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised on the
transfer of risks and rewards of ownership, which
generally coincides with the time when the goods are
delivered to customers and the title has passed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(1)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
i) Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount,

iii)  Dividend income
Dividend income from investments is recognised

when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment
have been established.

Equity settled share-based payment
transactions

Share options granted to employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant
date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
options reserve).

At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to ultimately
vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment
to share options reserve.,

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve will
be transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N B B

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESFHXR#%)

(Continued)

(k) Taxation (k) FiiE

118

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the vear. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the consolidated income statement because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used
in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted
for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities, are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.,

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be avallable to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit
or loss, except when it relates to items charged or credited
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
dealt with in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(1)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, tfransactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences arising on a monetary
item that forms part of the Company’'s net investment
in a foreign operation, in which case, such exchange
differences are recognised in equity in the consolidated
financial statements. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value
are included in profit or loss for the period except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised
directly in equity, in which cases, the exchange differences
are also recognised directly in equity.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) at the rate of exchange prevailing at
the balance sheet date, and their income and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised as a separate component of
equity (the exchange reserve). Such exchange differences
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the
foreign operation is disposed of.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(m) Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an
incentive to enter into an operating lease are recognised
as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on
a straight-line basis.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised as income over the
periods necessary to match them with the related costs.
Grants related to depreciable assets are presented as
deferred income and are released to income over the
useful lives of the assets. Grants related to expense items
are recognised in the same period as those expenses are
charged in the consolidated income statement and are
reported separately as “other operating income”.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit scheme and
mandatory provident fund defined contribution schemes are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised as and included in
finance costs in the consolidated income statement in
which they are incurred.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates. The estimate and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affect both current
and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s
accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have made
in the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies and
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in financial statements.

Held-to-maturity investment

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s held-
to-maturity investment in the light of its capital maintenance and
liquidity requirements and have confirmed the Group’s positive
intention and ability to hold those assets to maturity.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.
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4. CRITICALACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line
pasis over their estimated useful lives, after taking into account
their estimated residual values. The determination of the useful
lives and residual values involve management’s estimation. The
Group assesses annually the residual value and the useful life
of the property, plant and equipment and if the expectation
differs from the original estimate, such a difference may impact
the depreciation in the year and the estimate will be changed
in the future period.

During the year, the directors have reassessed the estimated
useful lives of certain property, plant and equipment and
concluded that the following useful life of leasehold improvement
should be adjusted to reflect the current condition.

Before 1st July 2008
Shorter of the lease
term and 5 years

After 1st July 2008
Shorter of the lease
term and 5 - 10 years

Useful life

The change in accounting estimate decreased the depreciation
charge and loss before taxation for the year ended 31st July
2009 by approximately HK$2,169,000.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group assesses annually whether property, plant and
equipment have any indication of impairment, in accordance with
relevant accounting policies. The recoverable amounts of property,
plant and equipment have been determined based on value-in-
use calculations. These calculations and valuations require the
use of judgment and estimates on future operating cash flows
and discount rates adopted. As at 31st July 2009, the carrying
value of property, plant and equipment is HK$303,7 17,000 (2008:
HK$302,885,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. CRITICALACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment of construction in progress

Provision for impairment on construction in progress is made
when the construction project is suspended for a long period;
the construction project is technically and physically obsolete
and its economic benefits to the Group is uncertain; or other
evidences can prove the existence of the decline in value of
construction project. Animpairment loss is recognised individually
for the shortfall of the recoverable amount of construction in
progress below its carrying amount. As at 31st July 2009, the
carrying value of construction in progress is HK$18,740,000
(2008: HK$12,110,000).

Impairment of prepaid lease payments

The recoverability of the carrying amounts of prepaid lease
payments is assessed annually by independent qualified valuer. In
determining fair values, the valuer has based on valuation method
which involves certain estimates. In relying on the valuation
report, the management has exercised their judgment and is
satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of the current
market conditions.
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4. CRITICALACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment of available-for-sale investments

The Group classifies certain assets as available-for-sale and
recognised movements of its fair value in equity. When the fair
value declines, management makes assumptions about the
decline in value to determine whether there is an impairment
that should be recognised in the income statement.

For the available-for-sale investment not quoted in an active
market, the management use their judgment in selecting an
appropriate valuation technique. Valuation techniques commonly
used by the market practitioners are applied. The Group’s unlisted
equity instruments with carrying amount of HK$5,356,000 (2008:
Nil) are valued using a discounted cash flow analysis based
on the assumptions supported, where possible, by observable
market prices or rates. The estimation of fair value of these equity
instruments also includes some assumptions not supported by
observable market prices or rates.

Allowance for inventories

The Group makes the allowance for inventories based on
assessments of the net realisable value of inventories. An
allowance is applied to inventories where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the net realisable value is lower than
the costs of inventories. The identification of obsolete inventories
required the use of judgment and estimates on the conditions
and usefulness of the inventories.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. CRITICALACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade and
other receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision for impairment
of trade and other receivables with the accounting policy stated
in note 3. Such provision for impairment is established if there
is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect
all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables.
Management reassesses the adequacy of any such provision
on a regular basis.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising
the return to shareholders through optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank balances and
cash and equity attributable to equity holders of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves. The directors of
the Company review the capital structure on a regular basis. As a
part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the cost
of capital and the associated risks and take appropriate actions
to adjust the Group'’s capital structure. The overall strategy of
the Group remained unchanged during the two years ended
31st July 2009 and 2008.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

EXERER

AEENEAEE S HEEBTEEREER
REHRETSE  BERAEENERARS
BiEE2t TREREERALIR -

AEENEARBEBRTEHRLBASIN
RARRREFAAREER(BREDE
TERANRGER) ARAREZTTEHRTE
RIEE - E R — 8D - RRAREEZE
BEAKRARBERR  WREGEETE
HABAEENEARE - BE-_TTNF
RZZZNFLA=+—HILMEFE -

TR T A

Categories of financial instruments ST AErER
2009 2008
—EENEF —ET)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Financial Assets EREE
At fair value through profit or loss BN AR MBS NEE 713 -
Held-to-maturity investment BBEEIERE 11,610 -
Loans and receivables (including B R ERFIA
deposits with bank and bank (BIERITFFAR
balances and cash) RITHEHBRIRE) 654,529 739,640
Available-for-sale investments AERPERE 17,086 -
Financial Liabilities cRBE
At amortised cost bieg: X io]D/9N 65,513 94,198
Derivatives financial instrument ESRIA - 827
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. MBRAREEBERBER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s major financial instruments include held-to-maturity AEBENTEZESR T ABREFEEIEER
investment, available-for-sale investments, trade and other B AHEPERE  BREZIERNEAMD
recelvables, held-for-trading investments, deposits with bank, JEWGRIE - BIEEBRE - Bi7F% - iR
bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, and derivative THEHEERS  BENEBEZERRHEAMmERS
financial instrument. Details of these financial instruments are HRIE - URTESRMTE ZE2@MIT A
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these BN S A TS - TXEYHZE
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these TRt T EARY AR KAl f# K% % R
risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors BIEER - BIREERREEZERR - U
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented TR SR B A1 RO ERBUGE & FR b ©
on a timely and effective manner.
Currency risk B m ks
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures TEEEHRZEBRR - BERKRIRE
arise from sales or purchases by several subsidiaries of the KAalETHWB AR AEEMNINAE S LA
Company in currencies other than those subsidiaries’ functional INEHMEITIHE SRR o A - BT R
currencies. In addition, certain portion of the trade receivables, BHEN RIOTEBRBASURENES
bank balances and cash and trade payables are denominated BRI AMERA D se E B ASMNY B EEETHE o
in currencies other than the functional currency of the entity to
which they relate.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated REBUIINEFHENEEEEREEAE
monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting date are REREBBRMERMENT
as follows:
As at 31st July 2009 As at 31st July 2008
R=ZZEAFLA=1—H RZZEZNF+A=1T—H
United States New Taiwan
Dollars Euro Dollars
(“USD”)’000 (“EUR”)’000 (“NTD”)’000 USD'000 EUR000 NTD'000
FER TEBT #HE%ETxn FET TR #HekFr

Assets EE 47,738 2,571 5,374 32,880 1,013 799
Liabilities aff 750 - 150 2,806 - 150

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

AEEBRRY BINEERBOR - AT - &
BEERINERBRIYN AT REEELH
BEARINERER
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency of USD, EUR
and NTD.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in HK$ against the relevant foreign
currencies. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the year end for a 5% change in foreign
currency rates. A negative number below indicates an
increase in loss where HKS strengthen 5% against the relevant
currency. For a 6% weakening of HK$ against the relevant
currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on
the loss, and the balances below would be positive. The
analysis is preformed on the same basis for 2008.

BERREEEERBE®
BREDN

AEBETERAZETL B hkieBNg
R e

TRV AREEEE T H AR INEHE K
FHERSUMBURE - BUXE D ITERIELAIN
MEBEMNREEEEEE - WHHIMNEIEXK
HI5%E B A ENFRNRE - TRMHAH
BFREAREBEEN BB T AREEN
[ER FF5% o WS LA A EBMEERT
BR5% - BB SR - T N XA A)
BIEH - AEBEBWABRELER =TT
FHEITHMN o

uUsD EUR NTD

Y B A
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
—EEAFE ZET)\F ZEEAF —TTN\F ZBTIE ZZTT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHEx FHAT THET FAT FTiEx FAT
Profit or loss AR (18,192)  (11,639) (1,349) (1,172) (60) (8)
In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentive ERERE  BRFEREARITREEA
of the inherent foreign exchange as the year end exposures do BB - HMEURE DT RER KR EH IMER

not reflect the exposure during the year.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
its variable-rate bank deposits and a held-to-maturity investment
and is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed-rate bank deposits for the year ended 31st July 2009.
To mitigate the impact of interest rate fluctuations, the Group
continually assesses and monitors the exposure to interest rate
risk.

The Group's exposure to interest rates on financial assets and
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management section
of this note.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for non-derivate instruments at
the balance sheet date. The analysis is prepared assuming the
financial instruments outstanding at the balance sheet date were
outstanding for the whole year.

If interest rates have been 50 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group's loss for the year
ended 31st July 2009 would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$542,000 (2008: HK$165,000). This is mainly attributable to
the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate short
term bank deposits and held-to-maturity investment.

7.
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SEARFHMNERRITERLFER I
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RATEAZ R ERE R o
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continueq)

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk through its investments
in listed equity securities and derivative financial instrument.
The management manages this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risks.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based
on the exposure to price risks at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity securities and derivatives
had been 5% (2008 Nil) higher/lower:

- post-tax loss for the year ended 31st July 2009 would
decrease/increase by HK$36,000 (2008: Nil) as a
result of the changes in fair values of held-for-trading
investments and derivative financial instrument; and

- investments revaluation reserve would increase/
decrease by HK$587,000 (2008: Nil) for the Group as
a result of the changes in fair value of listed available-
for-sale investments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that debtors, financial institution
and investment counterparties will default on their obligations
to repay the amounts owing to the Group, resulting in a loss to
the Group. The maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
that the counterparties fail to perform their obligations at end
of the financial year in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as
stated in the consolidated balance sheet.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade debt at each balance sheet date
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The Group does not have any other significant concentration
of credit risk. Trade receivables consist of a large number
of customers, spreading across diverse industries and
geographical areas.

The credit risk on liquid funds and held-to-maturity investment
is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of deposits with bank and bank balances
and cash deemed adequate by the management to finance

the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows,
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. BIEKREEEERBE®)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (Continuea) REESRERE )
The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual TREVAEEREBENFHRE LD FH
maturity for its financial liabilities. For non-derivatives financial HE-IEMETECRBENS BY
liabilities, the table has been drawn up based on the FIRTIRIER AN E B 0] 84 BT F A &
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the FHENeRAGERMAReRERE -

earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.

Liquidity risk tables RBESERYIR
Within one Total Carrying
year or on  undiscounted amount at
demand cash flows 31st July
—FRH KEEREE HREA=+—H
RER MEAHE M EREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
2009 —TENEF
Non-derivative financial liabilities {7 T ELRAE
Trade and other payables JERTE 5 R R H M T 3R 65,513 65,513 65,513
2008 —TTNF
Non-derivative financial liabilities T T E¢RMAE
Trade and other payables FEIT B S BR A R H A FE (- 3R 94,198 94,198 94,198
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

i)

the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
(including derivative financial instrument) with standard
terms and conditions and traded in active liquid markets
are determined with reference to quoted market bid
prices and ask prices respectively;

the fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding derivative financial instrument) is
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis using prices from observable current market
transactions and dealer quotes for similar instruments;
and

the fair value of derivative financial instrument is
calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices
are not available, use is made of discounted cash
flow analysis using the applicable yield curve for the
duration of the instruments for non-optional derivatives,
and option pricing models for optional derivatives.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair
values due to their immediate or short-term maturities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N B Ed

8. TURNOVER AND OTHER OPERATING
INCOME

Tumover represents sales value of goods sold to customers
net of sales tax and value added tax.

Revenues recognised during the year are as follows:

8. EXFNHEMELERA

EEBEETEPNERHEEEERKEE
i MIR(ER

FAERERRST

2009 2008
—EENEF —ET)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Turnover EHE
Sale of goods HEEMm 620,251 744,908
Other operating income HAthge g A
Interest income FE A
— Bank deposits —RITER 7,762 16,601
— Held-to-maturity investment —RBEZRIERE 38 -
Total interest income MEWA LR 7,800 16,601
Compensation received from BURER AR ERE
an insurance company 1,891 -
Gain on disposal of HERFEEERE W
held-for-trading investments 1,296 1,149
Gain on disposal of prepaid HEEMHEERIEK S
lease payments 1,025 -
Government grants BB
— Amortisation of deferred income — FARER A H
for the year (Note 31) (M$5E31) 23 -
— Grants related to expenses — TR AHA L E W AR
recognised as other operating FAREME) (F3E)
income (Note) 312 264
Reversal of impairment loss recognised B Ot EIE 5 BR R FER A
in respect of trade receivables FBEEE 43 -
Sundry income B A 5,147 4,210
17,537 02,004
Total revenues W es 42 za 637,788 767,132

Note: For the years ended 31st July 2009 and 2008, the amounts
represented unconditional grants from the PRC government
specifically for encouraging the Group's technology development
in the PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEGMENTS

Business segment

9. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL 9.

The Group principally operated in a single business segment:
the manufacturing and sale of silicone rubber and related
products. Accordingly, no business segment information is

presented.

Geographical segments

In presenting information on the basis of geographical
segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical

location of customers.

e BTSRRI A

2R ED

%
REBFELEE —EBHE  RERHE

EYBREPER - Bl HESIIES
SEER: -

ifl_?, ) /'\1‘::

TR D EEEZ TR
R F AT E AR o

7 B ER T

2009 2008
—EEhE —EENF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Turnover based on geographical locations:  ¥ZHIIBAIE S BRI L ¥ 4E ¢
The PRC hE (FEBRIN)

(excluding Hong Kong) 306,665 342,283
Hong Kong B 116,686 130,742
Other Asian countries E A gnMNEIR 129,661 188,792
The Americas M 48,058 51,687
Europe BOM 19,181 31,404

620,251 744,908

An analysis of segment assets and capital expenditure by
geographical area in which the assets are located has not been
presented as the Group’s assets are substantially located in

the PRC.

AR ANEERFDEESMURFTE - R
BE2IIREEMEMD BN BEERE
RFEZDHT ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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11.

10. OTHER NET EXPENSES 10. Hi B HEE
2009 2008
—EENE —ET)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Exchange losses & i 518 3,773 6,667
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BE
plant and equipment N EEE 53 1,178
Decrease in fair value of held-for- BIEBEBERE QT ERD
trading investments 24 -
Inventories lost in fire RSB EANTFE 998 -
Decrease in fair value of derivative PTESBMTEAFERD
financial instrument - 827
Loss on derivative financial instrument TEEBTAEEE 3,566 1,272
8,414 9,944
FINANCE COSTS 11. AE R A
2009 2008
—ZEEREF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Interest on bank borrowings wholly ARRAFABEEED
repayable within five years RITERFLE - 1,875
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RE BRI
12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 12. FIf88MAxX
2009 2008
—EEhE —EENF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FH&x FHIT
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEFEH
— current year —REE 211 91
— overprovision in prior years — B FEBERE - (8)
211 83
PRC Enterprise Income Tax B EEFTIS R
— current year —RER 6,478 3,530
— overprovision in prior years (Note) —BEFERERE (M) (4,237) (2,823)
2,241 707
Deferred taxation EAETHIE
— current year —RFEE (332) 194
— attributable to a change in tax rate — MR - ®)
(332) 186
2,120 976
Note: Overprovision of PRC Enterprise Income Tax expenses credited to Wit : RZZETAFR-ZZZTN\FABZEDN
profit or loss during 2009 and 2008 represents the tax effect on FREMEMESHASBREEBEELASE
tax benefits available to the Group in respect of certain purchases REBE_ZZENFR_ZZLFMHEDFIR
of equipment produced in the PRC pertained for the year 2008 —ETNFR-_ZTNFHEBEET
and 2007 but approved in 2009 and 2008, respectively, and PR RGER R - DA R B RSHERE BhER
the agreement of the tax authorities on deductibility of certain ETHRIMNREMESNRISERNY
expenses. @, -
©]
g
=
o
o
[T
Zz
-
<
< o~y
38
s
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

138

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continueq)

Hong Kong Profits Tax was calculated at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profit for both years.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and British Virgin Islands (‘BVI"), the Group is not subject to
any income tax in the Cayman Islands and BVI.

Ta Yang Group (Macao Commercial Offshore) Limited (‘MCQO”)
was incorporated as a commercial offshore entity in Macau
and is exempt from Macau Complementary Tax.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of the PRC,
the companies comprising the Group in the PRC are liable
to PRC Enterprise Income Tax as follows:

- Dongguan Ta Yang Silicone Rubber Industrial Company
Limited (“Dongguan Ta Yang”) is an approved foreign
investment product export oriented enterprise during
the years ended 2008 and 2009 and eligible to a
preferential tax rate of 12% up to 31st December 2007 .
From 1st January 2008 onwards, Dongguan Ta Yang
applied the unified tax rate of 25%.

- Dongguan Tay Yang Rubber Plastic Industrial Company
Limited (“‘Dongguan Tay Yang”), Huzhou Ta Yang
Electronic Technology Company Limited (“Huzhou
Ta Yang”) and Dongguan Tai Yang Rubber Plastic
Industrial Company Limited (“Dongguan Tai Yang”)
are foreign investment enterprises and are entitled to
tax concessions whereby the profit for the first two
financial years beginning with the first profit-making
year is exempted from income tax in the PRC and the
profit for each of the subsequent three years is taxed
at 50% of the prevalling tax rate.

- Dongguan Tay Yang is entitled to a preferential tax rate of
24% up to 31st December 2007. From 1st January 2008
onwards, Dongguan Tay Yang applied the unified tax
rate of 25%. The first profit-making year of Dongguan
Tay Yang is 2006. Accordingly, Dongguan Tay Yang
is exempted from PRC Enterprise Income Tax from
Tst January 2005 to 31st December 2006 and is entitled
to a 0% exemption of income tax from 1st January
2007 to 31st December 2009.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

- Huzhou Ta Yang is entitled to a preferential tax rate
of 26.4% up to 31st December 2007 and applied
the unified tax rate of 25% from 1st January 2008 to
31st December 2008. The first profit-making year of
Huzhou Ta Yang is 2004. Accordingly, Huzhou Ta Yang
is exempted from PRC Enterprise Income Tax from 1st
January 2004 to 31st December 2005 and is entitled to
a 50% exemption of income tax from 1st January 2006
to 381st December 2008.

Huzhou Ta Yang is an approved advanced technology
enterprise during the year ended 2009 and eligible to
a preferential tax rate of 15% from 1st January 2009
to 31st December 2010.

- Dongguan Tai Yang is entitled to a preferential tax rate of
24% up to 31st December 2007 . From 1st January 2008
onwards, Dongguan Tai Yang applied the unified tax
rate of 25%. The first profit-making year of Dongguan
Tal Yang is 2008. Accordingly, Dongguan Tai Yang
is exempted from PRC Enterprise Income Tax from
Tst January 2008 to 31st December 2009 and is entitled
10 a 50% exemption of income tax from 1st January 2010
to 31st December 2012,

On 16th March 2007, the PRC promulgated the Law of the
PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “New Law”") by Order
No. 63 issued by the Tenth National People’'s Congress. On
6th December 2007, the State Council of the PRC issued
Implementation Regulations of the New Law. The New Law
and Implementation Regulations changed the tax rate from
1st January 2008 onwards. The New Law provided a five-year
transition period from 1st January 2008 for those subsidiaries
which were established before the promulgation date of the
New Law and which are entitled to a preferential lower tax
rate under the effective tax laws or regulations and hence the
25% tax rate will only be applicable to certain subsidiaries
after the expiry of tax holidays and concessions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N B B

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

12. R B )

The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to FANEMASHEEAEBRROKREA
the (loss) profit before taxation per the consolidated income (}Eﬁ,@\)/ﬁnﬂﬂﬁEﬁDT :
statement as follows:
2009 2008
—EENEF —ZET)NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(Loss) profit before taxation Biial (B1R) & (36,773) 101,359
Tax expense at rates applicable to 1235 A AR A B = s T Y
profits in the countries concerned BMEFTENHIERS 2,511 16,182
Tax effect of income not subject to tax BERRBANR G E (307) (861)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible BN
for tax purposes 4,122 633
Overprovision in prior years BAEFERERE (4,237) (2,831)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBRIBBENOHETE 3,981 1,171
Effect of tax exemptions granted HR IR B R A ERRIE
to PRC subsidiaries BERFE (8,455) (3,748)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised BB RERBIIEEE
tax losses = (5,942)
Decrease in opening deferred tax ERATER D AR FEYIRTE
liability resulting from a decrease MIBE ER D
in applicable tax rate - (8)
Tax credit A % (495) (3,620)
Income tax expenses for the year FRAEHRAX 2,120 976

Details of deferred taxation are in Note 32.

BRARCEH BN FBENMES2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13. LOSS (PROFIT) FOR THE YEAR

13. FABE (R

e RS R AR Y A

)

2009 2008
“EZThEF —EEN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHEIT
Loss (profit) for the year has been FAEBCEF) D&
arrived at after charging (crediting): GFA)ATEIE -
Auditor’'s remuneration ZHAN S
— current year —REZ 874 1,000
— over-provision in prior year — BT BB - (175)
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments AR E RO 1,300 455
Bad debts directly written off HEMEER 23,742 82
Cost of inventories sold (Note ) BEEFERA () 514,756 531,419
Allowance for inventories GFEEE (BIEHEENA)
(included in cost of sales) 4,437
Share of taxation of an associate DI E R RITRIE 163 412
Depreciation of property, Y - BEMEREBITE
plant and equipment 40,360 35,224
Directors’ emoluments (Note 17) BxME (FHFE17) 7,365 11,468
Impairment loss recognised in PR F R
respect of trade receivables EEE 127 552
Research and development costs (Note i)  AFEERCA (Bt i) 10,080 5,869
Payments under operating leases B REFEE
in respect of land and buildings HEBETHRR 8,677 8,473
Staff costs (excluding directors’ BINA(TEREEEHE)
emoluments) (Note 16) (Mtzx16) 225,110 226,966

Note i1 Cost of inventories sold includes HK$208,343,000 (2008:
HK$207,628,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation expenses
and operating lease charges which amount is also included in
the respective total amounts disclosed separately above.

Note il: During the year ended 31st July 2009, research and development

costs included staff costs of approximately HK$5,632,000
(2008: HK$4,030,000) for the Group's employees engaged in
research and development activities, which are also included in

staff costs as disclosed in Note 16.

N

B 5 -

BETFERABEHREIAAN - TERM
XRISEHEER(FHSENE RS
EEXBURBENE@REEN)EEN
& $8208,343,0008 T( Z T T N\ F :
207,628,000/87T) °

HE 7§n¢tﬂz+—5¢¢
B MERABERERETDHHAR
£E t B # B T A AN 495,682,000/ 7T
(ZZZ)\F : 4,080,000 7T) + INE
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N B B

14. DIVIDENDS RECOGNISED AS 14. FABR A RKHKRE
DISTRIBUTION DURING THE YEAR
2009 2008
—BEhE ZET)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Dividend recognised as distribution FNERBDIK
during the year: AR E.
2008 final dividend declared and ER&EEIRNH
paid of HK$0.06 ZETN\FRARE
(2007: HK$0.06) per share FR%0.067 7T
—EELF 0 0.06587T) 48,000 48,000
The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.06 BEREMNHE_ZETAFLA=T—H

15

per share for the year ended 31st July 2009. The proposed final
dividend will be paid on or before 13th January 2010 to those
shareholders whose names appear on the Company’s register of
members on 23rd December 2009.

This proposed dividend is subject to approval by the shareholder
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

(LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculations of the basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share
are based on the Group’s loss attributable to equity holders of
the Company of approximately HK$38,893,000 (2008: profit of
HK$100,383,000).

The basic (loss) eamnings per share is based on the weighted
average number of 800,000,000 (2008: 800,000,000) ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

No diluted (loss) earnings per share has been presented because
the exercise price of the Company's share options was higher
than the average market price of the Company’s shares for the
years ended 371st July 2009 and 2008.
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e R R R MR
16. STAFF COSTS (EXCLUDING 16. ET A (TEEEEH )
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)
2009 2008
—EThE —EE)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FHET
Salaries, allowances and other benefits e AR EMET 211,892 212,597
Retirement benefit schemes contribution  3RKIEFIET 2145k 11,050 10,193
Share-based payments AR 4 B ETR A5 3R 2,168 4,176
225,110 226,966
The subsidiaries in Hong Kong operate defined contribution BEENHBARRBEE AT MERESF
schemes under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund EliEpl e EREER L THEMENGTE -
Schemes Ordinance which are available to qualified employees. ZEHENEERBIEEESTB W
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of HBARIMEESH - MBAREFAEK
the subsidiaries in independently administered funds. Monthly BRAFMAANETE DL ERHRE%E
contributions made by the subsidiaries are calculated based on BB FT AR EE SRR SR (R ) -
certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs or fixed sums
as stipulated under the relevant requirements, as appropriate.
Pursuant to the regulations of the relevant authorities in the RIBEFEEBEERORE - REENER
PRC, the subsidiaries of the Group in this country participate B 8~ 7] 78 £ BRI BUT B R KR R 5T &l
in respective government retirement benefit schemes (the (IZZ5r8])  WBARARRZER
“Schemes”) whereby the subsidiaries are required to contribute SWERHER - BEEREBSNRKENIE
to the Schemes to fund the retirement benefits of the eligible HES - MZFFEELOERTDESD
employees. Contributions made to the Schemes are calculated EBIETER R E A H B AR S TR D E
based on certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs Ho-hEEHEERABERNERKEESNE
as stipulated under the requirements in the PRC. The relevant ERNEEMT -  AEERZFTENOME—
authorities of the PRC are responsible for the entire pension EERBETNZETEIMR TR -
obligations payable to the retired employees. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the Schemes is to pay the ongoing
required contributions under the Schemes.
The retirement benefit schemes contribution represent gross BRAREFGEHEFERNEERTRHEEE g
contributions by the Group to the Schemes operated by the RENNZETE R EEE RN TEER =
relevant authorities of the PRC and the defined contribution et BIEH AV R4 - 2
schemes operated in Hong Kong. g
-
Details of the Company’s share options granted to the employees AR TAEEREEBERENFBHERN % Z
of the Group are set out in Note 33. FIEESS © gg
T &
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e IR R AR MY R

17. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR 17. EER S EEEMS
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEME
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine ERNRERNE(ZTEENF  +8)
(2008: ten) directors were as follows: EXZFZENMSEIINT
For the year ended 31st July 2009 BE-_ZZhFtHA=+—H
ILFE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and other Discretionary schemes Share-based
Fees benefits bonus contributions  payments Total
B FHooEE O WERPL O BAEA UBRGA @t
REfER TR EROAR

HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
TR TER TER TER TER TER

Executive directors HTES

Huang Sheng-Shun BHR - 1,368 100 12 217 1,697

Huang Te-Wei BEH - 683 76 12 91 862

Lin Hung-Ming HER - 877 69 12 126 1,084

Wong Tak Leung EE - 660 54 12 109 835

Wu Ih Chen REF - 1,09 80 12 180 1,368

Kirk Yang (Note) BER (Kt - 946 57 6 - 1,009

Non-executive directors ~ FH{TEZS

Kirk Yang (Note) BIER () 90 - - - - o)

Independent non- BUk4TES

executive directors

Chuang Hong-Jen HELC 120 - - - - 120

Yeung Chi Tat BEE 180 - - - - 180

Hsieh Yu # 120 - - - - 120

510 5,630 436 06 723 7,365

Note: Mr. Kirk Yang ceased to be the executive director Mizr: BEBEER-_ZTTNF_A—
and chief financial officer of the Company and was ARTHETAARNRITES
re-designated as a non-executive director with effect LB EEBE - WTAIES
from 1st February 2009 for a term of three years. TEE BEI=E
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17. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR 17. EERSREEEME @
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) E=EME @)
For the year ended 31st July 2008 BE-ZEZENFLtA=+—H
LEE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and other  Discretionary schemes  Share-based
Fees benefits bonus  contributions payments Total
we He R BEEL  RKEN  DRBA @t e
REMEH HElt  ERMNR

HKB000  HKBOOO  HKBOOO  HKBOOO  HKBOOO  HKBO0D
TR TATL TAL TAL AL TATL

Executive directors BITES
Huang Chi-Wei (resigned  &%fE (R=25+F

on 27t November 2007)  +—A=++HRE{T) - 240 2 4 70 334
Huang Sheng-Shun R - 1432 1500 82 372 3,386
Huang Te-WWei EEH - 520 288 13 156 977
Lin Hung-Ming HEH - 892 759 44 216 1911
Wong Tak Leung EER - 640 298 12 186 1136
Wu In Chen RE - 1104 980 68 308 2,460
Kirk Yang (appointed BERN-_ZZNF

on 18th Apri 2008) MATN\REZ) - 786 53 5 - 844
Independent non- BUkHiTES

executive directors
Chuang Hong-Jen HEC 120 - - - - 120
Yeung Chi Tat e 180 - - - - 180
Hsieh Yu #n 120 - - - - 120

420 5,614 3,898 228 1308 11,468

No directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments MEEEREE_ZZNLFR
during the two years ended 31st July 2009 and 2008. —EENFLEA=T—HIEMESF

ERERLFRERELTAME -
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e IR R AR MY R

17. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

(b) Senior management’s emoluments

All of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group for the years ended 31st July 2009 and 2008
were directors of the Company whose emoluments are
set out above.

No emoluments have been paid by the Group to the
directors and senior management as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office during the two years ended 31st July 2009
and 2008.
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. W% - BENRE

Properties Furniture, Leasehold
held for Motor  Plant and fixtures and  improve-
ownuse vehicles machinery equipment ments Total
BIERRNE RE BERME HM %E HENX Azt
&S %%

HK$000 ~ HK$000  HK$000  HKBOOD  HKB00D  HKS00O
TAL TAT TAT AT TERn TAT

COST PAE
At 1st August 2007 i Y R = 67,891 4864 205,877 36,588 45000 360,220
Exchange realignment BEHAE 7414 689 28,983 5,396 6,038 48,520
Additions RE 2,775 1,502 24,280 16,844 3,996 49,397
Transfer from construction BEETRTE

in progress (Note 19) (FizE19) 1,878 - 8,919 412 1,099 12,308
Disposals HeE (1,233) (605) - ) - (1,842)
At 31st July 2008 RZEE\FLA=T—H 78,725 6450 268,059 59,236 56,133 468,603
Additions NE 1,563 419 5,451 4,306 2,352 14,091
Transfer from construction ERATRETR

in progress (Note 19) (H35E19) 22,685 - 4,690 343 - 27,718
Disposals HeE - (750) (1,914) (358) - (3,022)
At 31st July 2009 RZETAE+A=T—H 102,973 6,119 276,286 63,527 58485 507,390

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ~ 2:t#r&

At 1st August 2007 RZEZ+F\A—H 3,131 3,137 72,606 17,691 18,088 114,853

Exchange realignment 5 R 264 423 10,365 2536 2,581 16,169

Provided for the year FREE 3,335 285 20,592 5,816 5,196 35,224

Eliminated on disposals HEREH (91) (435) - 2) - (628)
At 31st July 2008 RZEENFLA=1—A 6,639 3410 103563 26,041 26065 165,718

Provided for the year FREE 4112 564 22,435 8,050 5,199 40,360

Eliminated on disposals HE R 8 - 675) (1,692) (38) - (2,405)
At 31st July 2009 RZEZNFLA=1—H 10,751 3299 124,306 34,053 31264 203,673

CARRYING VALUES FHEE

At 31st July 2009 RZEENFLA=T—H 02,222 2820 151,980 20,474 27221 303,717

At 31st July 2008 RZZEZNELA=T—A 72,086 3040 164,49 33,195 30,068 302,885
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e IR R AR MY A

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. W% - BWEKRRKRE#)

(Continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are LA EWZE - BB MBI B A B SEIE A
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful TEETAERFRRFISREENETE

lives less residual value as follows:

Properties held for own use situated on leasehold land are MELTH FORFES AYEZRERNOE
depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease EH R B AR E A fE A A HA(SERK B B850
and their estimated useful lives, being no more than 50 years FR)FEREERE -

after the date of completion.

Estimated useful life Residual value
fREt A EAEH FerEE
Motor vehicles 5 years 10%
E 5%
Plant and machinery 10 years 10%
B K t=s 10%F
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years 10%
B~ RERERE 5%
Leasehold improvements Shorter of the lease term and
5to 10 years -
HEMEEE HEMRSE10F - UREERSE
The carrying value of properties held for own use shown Ll Ea RMENEEERE
above comprises of:
2009 2008
ZBENF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TR
Medium-term lease FEIEE
- in Hong Kong —f[IRNEB 9,522 9,757
— outside Hong Kong — BB AN 82,700 62,329
92,222 72,086
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e RS R AR Y A

19. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 10. TEIRE

2009 2008

—EBELE ZEENF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FH&xT TFHIT

At 1st August VAV Rt = 12,110 1,001
Exchange realignment M H PR - 503
Additions NE 34,348 22,914

Transfer to property, plant EBEYE W5

and equipment (Note 18) K& (FisE18) (27,718) (12,308)
At 31st July REA=1+—H 18,740 12,110
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e IR R AR MY A

20. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 20. AHERE
The prepaid lease payments consist of cost of land use rights BN AEFIERER B AP R IEF H
in respect of land located in the PRC held under medium term ROBEN (A EBEZE LM EE
leases, on which the Group’s factory plants and staff quarters are EMEREIBES)N I AEHKR
built. The remaining period of the land use rights of the Group B o ANEE - BRI ER N F42
ranges from 42 to 47 years. BUATERE

Analysed for reporting purposes as: PLERRE METHATIAT ¢
2009 2008
—EEhE ZEZNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Current asset MENEE 1,208 1,312
Non-current asset EMENEE 58,057 59,854
59,355 61,166

21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 21. AifHHE®RE

Available-for-sale investments comprise: AHEERERE
2009 2008
—EENEF ZETN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Listed securities: LEWES
— Equity securities listed outside —EEBLAIMOE ETR AR
Hong Kong, at fair value BE EAFE 11,730 -
Unlisted securities: FE LTRSS
— Equity securities, at cost —IRARES - LA 5,356 -
17,086 -
The fair value of the above listed securities is determined based Ll FBEFNATEDNIEZEREBER S
on the quoted market bid prices available on the relevant stock ASHMIZMREABET -
exchange.
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B REERAR AL

an\

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 21. f##HE&&RE&E#)
(Continued)
The unlisted equity securities are measured at cost less FELETMRABLENEEHH hzﬁk$/)ﬁ/ﬂéfﬁ
impairment at each balance sheet date because the range of e WITHRZRSEELFNEEATER
reasonable fair value estimate is so significant that the directors FEEER  ARFESR 7%/\’&$TE3\B§
of the Company are of the opinion that their fair values cannot AR SEHIETE o
be measured reliably.
HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENT 2. HFEZEIHKRE
Held-to-maturity investment comprises: BHEIHEERE
2009 2008
—EEhE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Unlisted debt securities EEMERES 11,610 -
The unlisted debt securities carry variable interest at three-month FELMEBRBELFNAEFNE LS =B AR
LIBOR plus 0.95% per annum, payable quarterly, and will mature IRITRIZEFEMFEFZE0E - BEFE
in May 2012. BEELN  MEBEHABR =T —=
FRAFIE -
INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 23. & QTR
2009 2008
—EEhE —EENF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Unlisted shares, at cost JE LMD - R AE 1,278 1,078
Share of post-acquisition profit and DR UEE R & F
exchange reserve less distribution K B 5 R
of profit A IR 374 1,365
1,652 2,643
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e IR R AR MY A

23. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Details of the associate at 31st July 2009 are as follows:

Proportion of

Form of Place of Registered ownership
Name of business incorporation/ paid up interest
company structure operation capital directly held Principal activity
NREH EREBE FEMRYK AMBERE  EHEEEN TEXK
ReEwH BEERZLLH
SITY Silcum & Ta Yang  Incorporated  Germany EUR250,000  50% Trading of silicone tiles and electrical
International GmbH switching systems and related items
("SITY")
SITY Sleum & Ta Yang ~ #EfAK AL B 250,000B7C  50% YBEBR
International GmbH BERARIEHEERES

("SITY")

The summarised unaudited financial information in respect of the

Group’s associate is set out below:

BRAAKERERRNREEZYHEER
BMEHIIWT

2009 2008

—EThEF ZET)N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Total assets BERE 5,404 10,326

Total liabilities BEERE (2,100) (5,039)

Net assets BEFE 3,304 5,287
Group’s share of net assets of REE DG E QA

an associate MEEFE 1,652 2,643

Revenue Weas 20,763 31,442

(Loss) profit for the year R (18 =il (473) 2,796

Group's share of results of an associate  FRAEE D
for the year ol WNCIEOE 3 (237) 1,398
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e B RS R AR Y

24. INVENTORIES 24, 78
2009 2008
—EEBNE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Raw materials EH R 49,992 81,489
Work-in-progress R 30,091 25,909
Finished goods BIRK 28,906 30,523
108,989 137,921

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25, J?%u&%i% BR 7 & H b B W X
I/

(@) (a)
2009 2008
—EZhF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Trade receivables FEWE ZBRK
— from third parties —EKE=7 191,435 242,625
— from an associate — JEUR B N F] 843 2,500
Less: Impairment losses W BLIEME SR
recognised in respect HRAERBE
of trade receivables (406) (322)
191,872 244,803
Prepayments, deposits and FERRE ek
other receivables Hh R UL GRIB 13,459 48,101
205,331 292,904
The Group normally grants to its customers credit periods AEBE—R4ETHEFPNTI0AE135R
ranging from 30 days to 135 days which are subject to MEEH  WHERRETEHERS -

periodic review by the management.
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e IR R AR MY A

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

I8 (#)

@)

An aged analysis of trade receivables, net of impairment

(#)

25. B E 5 Bk 7% I H 2 B WK

MBRERRDREBERERNERES

losses recognised, is as follows: IRFREREBDITAT -
2009 2008
—EEhE ZZTNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within 1 month or on demand —RBARKIZERKEE 67,950 111,220
More than 1 month but less —@EAREELHR=(EA
than 3 months 86,965 95,600
More than 3 months but less —EAN EEBELR+ @A
than 12 months 36,882 36,795
More than 12 months +Z@AMNE 75 1,188
191,872 244 803
The movement on impairment losses of trade receivables o) FEWEFEREFRERBEEHINT
is as follows:
2009 2008
—EENE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
At 1st August B“NAA—H 322 913
Exchange realignment P& W % = 61
Impairment losses recognised ERRREREE 127 552
Impairment losses reversed B EUREBE (43) -
Receivables written off ISR U4 [0 i it 5
as uncollectible PR GRTE - (1,204)
At 31st July wWtA=+—A~ 406 322
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)
(b)  (Continued)
Included in the impairment losses recognised are

individually impaired trade receivables with an aggregate
balance of HK$406,000 (2008: HK$322,000) over which
the Group does not hold any collateral. The individually
impaired receivables mainly relates to customers that are
in unexpected financial difficulty or of poor credit history.

e B RS R AR Y

25. B B Z iR 7K K H fth BB WK

5 (%)

L) (&)
FAEBRBREEBEBEN A
@ 5 B 6/ & 0N E kKR 3
4 K # #% 5406,0008 T

TZTT)N\F 32200087T) © AE
B EEZEENETEE TR
B ERERERKEREZ R
ERERZIN IR EER
BTIREMEFERH -

At 31st July 2009 and 2008, the analysis of trade receivables ) RZZEZAFRZZTEZENFLA
that were past due but not impaired are as follows: =+—H  E@HERRENER
BHRFATIAT :
Past due but not impaired
EAE{ERRHE
Neither Over 90 days Over 1 year
past but less but less
due nor than than
Total impaired <90 days 1 year 2 years
#HE FREH <90H 90HMLE —FHLEE
FRBE BIR-—F DRME
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TAT THET FiET THET
31st July 2009 “EENFEA=T—H 101,872 179,067 11,752 978 75
31st July 2008 —ZEN\E+LA=1+—H 244,803 212,944 23,976 6,695 1,188

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to a wide range of customers for whom there was
no recent history of default.

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
1o a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management believes that no impairment allowance is
necessary in respect of these balances as there has not
been a significant change in credit quality and the balances
are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances.

REBE TR A BB R EUE 5 R 5K D
HRZWEAMRACENEL A
7 e

BB ERBENERE SRR
HEREAREEE RFCHRNE
VEFEH - REBELR AR
EELGXVEERELHARRER
R A &Y - BEIE B HREX
FHplELZELRERE K
S BT SR B A

[}
R °
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e IR R AR MY A

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 5. EWESRA R HMEWR

(Continued) I8 (&)

(@) Included in trade receivables are the following amounts o) BEREZEFRBRETNIAEEE
denominated in a currency other than the functional BRI EBUIINNEBIEN S
currency of the entity to which they relate: #

2009 2008

—EERE ZETNF

’000 '000

T35 T

usD e 19,058 21,546
EUR BT 472 825
NTD o=t 3,011 10

26. HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS 26. FEEERE

Held-for-trading investments of the Group at 31st July 2009 AEERZZETNFEtA=+—HNEFE
represent equity securities listed in Hong Kong at quoted market EBEREENEBIRMFEME LMK
price. B o

27. DEPOSITS WITH BANK AND BANK 27. BT ERURBITERRE

=

BALANCES AND CASH i

At 31st July 2009, the fixed interest rate on deposits with bank, RZZEZNRFELA=+—H"  ~fEA

with maturity within six months, was 0.20% (2008: Nil) per A HR SR AT 17 39 [E E 4 | & R0.20/2

annum. (Z22NF - &) o

At 31st July 2009, bank balances and cash comprise of cash RZEZENFLA=Z+—8" ' R1T&

held by the Group and short-term bank deposits of approximately BEEPELAEESENRSUR

HK$261,712,000 (2008: HK$446,780,000) at prevailing REMMISAMEGT EHEBPRITER

market rate. The maturities of bank balances were within three #9261,712,000% w( = T T )\ F:

months. 446,780,000/ 7T ) ° & FIRITAEHA 2 HA
BAE=/AR -

Bank balances and bank deposits with maturity within three —AAARBEMRITESR RIRITFRIZ

months carried interest at average market rates of 1.29% (2008: 120B(ZFT)\F : 263 )MFHMH

2.63%). MEEFR o
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27. DEPOSITS WITH BANK AND BANK

BALANCES AND CASH (continued)

At 31st July 2009, the Group’s bank balances and cash
denominated in RMB amounted to approximately RMB142,205,000
(2008: RMB189,205,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of
the entity to which they relate:

27.

e B R AR Y

RITERURBITERRE

cAC P

RZZZAELAE=+—H8 &KEHI
ARBHENBRITEHRLIESHOAEAR
#6142,205,000L( ZZEZENF : AR
189,205,0007T) ° A ARE BINEAEST
FEISNEEIBIGOI R 4E R - EERNIEE
AR TE AR o

RITHEBR AR BE NIARBERND
EEEBISNERSHEMFUA

2009 2008

—EEBNEF ZEENF

’000 ‘000

Fr T

UsD ETT 28,680 11,334
EUR BR T 2,099 1,088
NTD etk 2,363 789

The fair values of the Group’s bank balances and cash at the
balance sheet date approximated to the corresponding carrying
amounts due to their short-term maturities.

HRARERNRITER - RITEHERE
BREHARIE  HEREERNRAFE
HAERmERS -

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. %ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁﬂﬂ@ﬁ%’\
Ii

2009 2008

—EZhEF —EENF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Trade payables FEHE SR 31,822 56,303

Other payables HAth fE 500 36,317 42,379

68,139 99,182
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e IR IR AR MY R

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES coninves) 28. BN E SRR R H M EN K

15 ()
An aged analysis of trade payables is as follows: JETE ZERRMBRE AT a0 ¢
2009 2008
—EENEF —ET)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within 1 month or on demand —{E A AR R ERKEE 20,969 22144
Due after 1 month but less than 3 months  — 1@ A 1&{8 =1{& B R 3| &5 8,477 26,333
Due after 3 months but within 12 months ~ =1& A& 18+ —{& A W% &3 1,887 8,170
Due after 12 months @A &R E 489 156
31,822 56,803
Included in other payables, there are no accrued directors’ EMENREATEERNTARARESN
emoluments due to the Company's directors (2008: EFEEWES(ZZTZ/\F 1 4,060,000
HK$4,060,000). HBIT) °
Included in trade payables are the following amounts denominated JENE SERABIE T AHBEE BN
in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity to BEEE AN EBIIEN SRR -
which they relate:
2009 2008
—EEREF ZEENF
’000 ‘000
FExT FHET
usD ET 750 2,806
NTD e 150 150
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29. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT 29.

e B R R AR Y A

TTESRT A

Derivatives not under hedge accounting: IR EIEMITAET R
2009 2008
—EThEF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBxT FHETT
Derivative financial asset TTESMEE
Investment in warrant REFNRE 115 -
Derivative financial liability TEsmAasE
Commodity future contract EmBEEL - 827

The commodity future contract represents the trading of silver
with maturity date on 30th September 2008. The commodity
contract is normally settled other than by physical delivery of
the underlying commodity and hence is classified as derivative
financial instrument. On maturity, the contracted price is compared
to the spot price and the differential is applied to the contracted
quantity. A net amount is paid or received by the Group. The
derivative is measured at fair value at the balance sheet date.
The fair value is determined based on the quoted market prices
of equivalent instruments at the balance sheet date.

The Group’s derivative financial liability is denominated in USD.

The commodity future contract has been settled during the year
ended 31st July 2009 at loss of approximately HK$1,549,000.
The loss arising from changes in fair value of commodity future
contract for the year ended 31st July 2008 is approximately
HK$827,000.

FeEaER T \FAA=1TH

AHMRHER S - Bma A —RILIEA
ERAMNENRKRTAEE  BMoE
ﬁmi/i\ﬁ'ﬂllﬂ REIHE - FTAY(EEIR

EEMRL  NEBRUEGHEE  BAK
B TS WS o STAE T ARGEHE AR
RNFHEAE ERAFERSFRATARGSE
BHMISHREETE

AEENTESBABARITAE °

ARPEANERBE-ZEZTNF
+tA=ZT-BHLEEEHBEE  BIEY
1549000 L HE-ZTZT)\Ft A
—t+—BHIFE BERBEAYNLATEE
BRI R A 1840 /827 0005 7T °
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N B B

30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. &7
Number of
shares Amount
B EE o]
‘000 HK$'000
Fhx FET
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary share of HK$0.1 each SREEIBTINEBR
At 31st July 2007, 2008 and 2009 RIEBEZLF - —ZENF
M_ZEZAFLA=1—H 20,000,000 2,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITREE
Ordinary share of HK$0.1 each FREEIBTHEER
At 31st July 2007, 2008 and 2009 E/\_ T2 F ZFENF
—ETAFLR=+—H 800,000 80,000
31. DEFERRED INCOME 31. EZEWA
2009 2008
—EENEF ZET)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Granted during the year FRET 1,049 -
Credited to consolidated income statement s A4RA KR (23) -
At 31st July wtA=+—H 1,026 -
During the year ended 37st July 2009, the Group received a J‘E@Eﬁi:g%ﬂi‘tﬂ =t+—BILFEH
government grant of approximately HK$1,049,000 from 7L i# C AREFE RN T AN ER SR E R
N EFI R EIEELZ B for the acquisition of prepaid lease 2/\ SHRBEABNHEEREMES THOBM
payments. The amount will be recognised as other operating BN 491,049,000/ 7L ° 22 RS RTER
income over the unexpired lease term of prepaid lease payments. MEFEEXAERANER AEMLEIR
During the year, deferred income of approximately HK$23,000 Ao AR IREWR A L)23,0008 7T E FNER
has been recognised in the consolidated income statement. EEERAER -
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32. DEFERRED TAXATION AREBE

AEERBEFECHERANEZRLEHREA
(EE)RENREZEHMT :

The following are the major deferred tax (assets) liabilities
recognised and movements thereof during the current and prior

years:
Deferred
income
Unrealised Accelerated arising from
profits on tax  Estimated government
inventories depreciation  tax losses grant Total
7EM IEHE BEHE BAHBEE @t
REREF e BRE  WHEZRA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TET TEL TET THER THER
At Tst August 2007 RZZEZ+FE\A—H (885) 143 - - (742)
Charged (credited) to i %’éﬁgﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ} (FtA)
consolidated income HEEENE
statement 329 88 (2283) - 194
Effect of change in tax rate HMEEHHTE - 8) - - 8)
At 31st July 2008 RZEL\FtA=+—H (556) 223 (223) - (556)
(Credited) charged to NrEEER (FTA) Mk
consolidated income
statement (75) (78) 78 (257) (332)
At 31st July 2009 RZEENFLA=T—H (631) 145 (145) (257) (888)

Under the New Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1st January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation
has not been provided for in the consolidated financial statements
in respect of temporary differences attributable to the profits
earmed by the PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

BERPBRFTBE L RHME QR A
—EEN\F-A—HABARMBEENEIR
KPR B IBEINTR - AEBRNERE MIEHR
= A I 4 B AR B B B A B AT B EE A R
i’li%%ét%_kﬁléﬁéﬁ C RE AR
BEsIR B TR M E B B
EZ%%’*H# MEEFIRETD IR R R
@ o

Annual Report 2009 — T T /| F F

161

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

B ER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR R AR MY A

32. DEFERRED TAXATION (cContinued)

At 31st July 2009, the Group has unused estimated tax losses of
approximately HK$34,4 15,000 (2008: HK$18,109,000) available
for offsetting against future profits. A deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of such losses of approximately
HK$885,000 (2008: HK$1,355,000). No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the remaining losses of
approximately HK$33,530,000 (2008: HK$16,754,000) due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams. At 31st July 2009,
HK$23,927,000 (2008: approximately HK$9,656,000) included
in the above unused tax losses will expire after five years from
the year of assessment to which they relate to. Other estimated

tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the shareholders’ written resolution passed on 16th
May 2007, the Company adopted a Pre-IPO share option scheme
(“the Pre-IPO Option Scheme”) whereby the directors and eligible
employees of the Group were given the rights to subscribe for
shares of the Company, the subscription price per share pursuant
to the Pre-IPO Option Scheme is HK$2.20 representing a 37.1%

discount to the international offering price.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all options granted under the Pre-IPO Option Scheme
is 9,070,000 shares which were fully granted on 16th May 2007
No further options would be granted under the Pre-IPO Option

Scheme on or after the listing on 8th June 2007 .
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32.

33.

EERBIE ()

RZBETAELA=+—8 FTEEEN
R B) BB {5 R TE B 1B 4934,415,00008 7T
— T T )\ £ 18,109,000/ 7T ) - A fit
Y AR IHEF o B HLA B EE49885,000
EIL(ZZTZ N\ 1 1,355,000/ 7T ) ER
EEFIBEAE - AR RAETERT R IOEFR
= W& B8 T B 98 £933,530,0005% 7T
—ZTZT\F 16,754,000/ 7T ) ERIE T
RBEEE R_ZThAFELtA=1+—8"
L AR EABIEEEH 23,027,000 T
—ZET)\F 499,656,000 7T ) R E
HENTETFERTAFREIE - Hia
TR BEE R SR o

RS

BER-_ZTLFRA T/ NHBBENRESE
FRBE - AR BEME X AFREERER
EETEI([BERARBEEATERERTE]) - B
bt AEBENEEULE BN EERERER
BAARIMRG - BIEBEEXAREERER
T B BIRERE 2208 T BRI EE
EHTES7 1% °

RITEREE X AR EE/ERE S
RO A BRER T HEITHRN B
& #7%9,070,0000% » ™A BBRED B
“ERHEFRAATANAREERE - AAF
R-ZZLFXANBLETRZE - TF
BREEALHESNBIET SIS -5
R HREAE -



33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(@)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during (a)
the period are as follows, whereby all options are settled

by physical delivery of shares:

Options granted under the Pre-IPO Option Scheme have
a vesting period of one to five years commencing from the
Listing Date and the options are exercisable for a period of
ten years. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation
1o repurchase or settle the option in cash.

B REERAR AL

v/T\

33. B EsTE 2

PATT 75 BRI 3% 1 B SRR 0 fER 3R B
o MATEBEEESEREYMRN
HQ{/\/\\Dﬁ'

R A= AUNGES TR e R
BRHBEEENRE R H AT
ARE-ERFE TEEARTF
AEEYEBEFRECEETUARS
PO EERBRE -

Number of Number of
options options —
granted to granted to
Vesting conditions directors employees Total
BERE BTFEEMN BFEEN @gt
BREZE BREEE
1st anniversary of the Listing Date R R —EF 430,000 1,384,000 1,814,000
2nd anniversary of the Listing Date T REEmES 430,000 1,384,000 1,814,000
3rd anniversary of the Listing Date FhREG=EF 430,000 1,384,000 1,814,000
4th anniversary of the Listing Date RGBS 430,000 1,384,000 1,814,000
5th anniversary of the Listing Date FTHBERASF 430,000 1,384,000 1,814,000 -
2,150,000 6,920,000 9,070,000
The number and exercise prices of share options are as (b) BERSEMNEE RITEEWT ¢
follows:
Exercise Number of
price options
TEE BRESE
Outstanding at 1st August 2007 RZZEZLFNA—BHRITHE HK$2.20 8,935,000
Lapsed during the year FREKR HK$2.20 (1,510,000)
Pz
Outstanding at 37st July 2008 REZZBENFLAZFT—HMEKRTE HK$2.20 7,425,000 g
Lapsed during the year FRERB HK$2.20 (340,000) =
Outstanding at 371st July 2009 AT RFLAZF—HEKRITE 7,085,000 <:E

Annual Report 2009 — T T /| F F

163



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N B B

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

33. BTS2

(c)  Fair value of share options and assumptions (c) MEREMAFEMERSR
The fair value of services received in return for the share @Z%Eﬂﬂgﬁﬁ% EW%E(] lig
E2RABELBEREN D TER
options granted is measured by reference to the fair value o i HEREN AT EES 2
of share options granted. The estimate of the fair value AI#a O m—4FRE | EAEE B R
of the share options granted is measured based on the e BRENSNFHAEZE
Black-Scholes Option Pricing model. The contractual life EW’\J;IEE%‘EA?%( P RFTREME
of the share option is used as an input into this model. BTSRAMBERERA -
Expectation of early exercise is incorporated into the
valuation model.
Fair value at measurement date HK$1.66
et 2 BB A FE 1.66787T
Share price HKS$3.11
AN BHS 3BT
Exercise price HK$2.20
1T1E(E 2,20 7T
Expected volatility 56.65%
T8 B R
Option life 10 years
B R HE e < HR 104
Expected dividends 2.5%
TE AR B
Risk-free interest rate
(based on Exchange Fund Notes) 4.1%
ERRNE (REIIMNEESTER)
34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 4. BEFRS
(a)  Other than disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated (&) BRNEREMBMESIT ﬁfﬁg%% ’
financial statements, during the year, the Group entered Eﬁ FACARBREELTILAT
into the following transactions with the related party: %
Name of company Nature of transactions 2009 2008
IR REME —EENF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FABT
SIiTY Sales of silicone rubber keypads 6,082 8,635
SiTY HEWRBIRE
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 4. BEFRZ (&)
(Continued)
(b)  Compensation of key management personnel (b) TEEIEEABIRHN
The remuneration of directors of the Company and other FA AR EFERHEMFTZER
members of key management during the year were as [ER B MF T -
follows:
2009 2008
—ETAF ZEEN\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Short-term benefits 72 R A 8,052 11,377
Post-employment benefits BEIR 12127 123 330
Share-based payments VARRAD A EL 0 & 15 3K 1,146 1,673
9,321 13,380
The remuneration of directors of the Company and key RABBEERTETBRABNHM B E
executives is determined by the remuneration committee WZEeEEERATHERIRRTESIB
having regard to the performance of individuals and BmEE °
market trends.
35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 35. EAEIE
2009 2008
—EZThEF ZEENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Capital expenditure contracted for BLUHE T 5 S\ E T
but not provided in the consolidated B RN E W TR
financial statements in respect MEAME
of the acquisition of:
— Property, plant and equipment — M - BB RRE 5,034 13,236
— Available-for-sale investments (Note) — A HERE () 6,676 -
11,710 13,236
Note: At 371st July 2009, the Group has committed to acquire i : RZZEZThEFELA=1+—8 A&£EE
unlisted equity securities outside Hong Kong. AR EIRINIEEIE ETIRARE S -
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36. COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING 36. R&HEHRE

LEASES
The Group as lessee EEEEREEA
The Group leases a number of properties under operating leases REBRBCEHERES TWERIER
for its factories, offices and staff quarters. The leases were E -MAEREIRES ZISHERHN
negotiated for terms ranging from one to five years, with the FT—z2hF WABREEEEM  ERAT
options to renew the leases when all terms are renegotiated. BRFHEFETE  ZEHEMERRE
None of the leases includes contingent rentals. gAME o
At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments for future REREH - REBERB T HELEEE
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 2 AH T§§1—J'E}]E’{EETHE RIA A AR RS
which fall due as follows: BRI TAT
2009 2008
—EENF ZEENF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Land and buildings: T RAEF
Within one year —FA 7,083 7,931
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EZNF (BREEEMSF) 10,922 12,781
18,005 20,712
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37. BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION OF 37. AQRNEEEBREHR
THE COMPANY
NOTES 2009 2008
B5E —EThE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT T
Non-current asset IEmBIEE
Investments in subsidiaries RSB AR
K& 104,149 104,149
Current assets mENEE
Other receivables H b W FOR 228 -
Amounts due from subsidiaries ﬁEHﬁZW%
UNGIE @ (a) 658,627 477,192
Bank balances and cash R174 ﬁ%&iﬁi 113,940 181,353
772,795 658,545
Current liabilities MEAE
Other payables Hfh S F0B 1,091 258
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEH B A R B (@) 125,207 14,046
126,298 14,304
Net current assets mENEEFE 646,497 644,241
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTBEE 750,646 748,390
Capital and reserves BER R
Share capital N 80,000 80,000
Reserves & (o) 670,646 668,390
Total equity = 1BE 750,646 748,390
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37. BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION OF 37. KRR EINEEEBXRER @)
THE COMPANY (Continued)

(a)  Amounts due from/to subsidiaries @ JEUTENHIEB A RFIA
The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and EEFIBEAEER  RERIZERER -
repayable on demand. The fair values of the amounts at AR BEFIEANEHANEIE - MERE
the balance sheet date approximated to the corresponding EAMATEEAEEDERS

carrying amounts due to their short-term maturities.

(o) Reserves (b) FEE
Share
Share option Retained
premium reserve profits Total
BRORE RODERE R EF e
f#E

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TATL TATL TATL

At 1st August 2007 R-EZ+FNA—H 659,945 1,400 4,079 665,424
Profit for the year FREF - - 45,482 45,482
Equity-settled share-based — #EZEHIRDER R S
transactions - 5,484 - 5,484
Transfer to reserve for value 5t 2 ik BE A% #E &9
of share option lapsed EEER=FHE - (698) 698 -
Dividend declared and FATIREBIRTRE
paid during the year - - (48,000) (48,000)
At 31st July 2008 RZZEZNEF
+A=+—H 659,945 6,186 2,259 668,390
Profit for the year FREF - - 47,365 47,365
Equity-settled share-based — #EzEEHIMRDERE R S
fransactions - 2,891 - 2,891
Transfer to reserve for value it 23R B8 A% 1 89
of share option lapsed BEERERE - (375) 375 -
Dividend declared and FREIREBIRTRE
paid during the year - - (48,000) (48,000)
At 31st July 2009 RZZEZTNF
+HA=+—H 659,945 8,702 1,999 670,646
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38. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

e BTSRRI A

38. RMTB L RIMNKRE

Details of the principal subsidiaries held by the Company as at R-ZEZAFLAZ+—HB ARAEAE
37st July 2009 are as follows: WEEWBEBRBFEET ¢
Place of Attributable
incorporation/ Class of Issued share capital/ equity interest
Name of subsidiary establishment shares held registered capital of the Group  Principal activities
WEARERE MR,/ FrisRAER BRORE/ S 1] TREY
BuE ERER B RARESR
Ta Yang Silicone Rubber Industrial - Hong Kong Ordinary shares 1,000,000 shares 100% Trading of slicone rubber
Company Limited of HK$1 each
AAYBBIEERAF X EBR 1,000,000 5% 100% EEVE
EEIETHRE
Chief Ocean Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 1 share of HK$1 each 100% Provision of management
services
HEBRAR EE EBR 1REE 100% RILERRHS
TBTRRR
Ta Yang Group Limited BVl Ordinary shares 11,930,811 shares 100% Investment holding
of US$1 each
RAESERRAT EBRNES EBR 11,930,811 100% RERR
BREGIETORR
Top View Investment BV Ordinary shares 1 share of US$1 each 100% Investment holding
Holdings Limited
Top View Investment KERZEE LER TREEIETHRG 100% REER
Holdings Limited
Ta Yang Group Macau Ordinary shares 1 share of 100% Trading of slicone rubber
(Macao Commercial MOP100,000 each
Offshore] Limited
REEE (RFIER 2P EBR 1REE 100% BEVE
BER%) BRAR 100,000 Rk A
Dongguan Ta Yang Silicone PRC Contributed capital  HK$86,000,000 100% Manufacturing of silicone
Rubber Industrial rubber
Company Limited
RERFEBRRARAR i NV 86,000,000 100% REYR
Huzhou Ta Yang Electronic PRC Contributed capital  US$38,000,000 100% Manufacturing of silicone
Technology Company Limited rubber
MMRFEFRRBRAR i NV 38,000,000%7C 100% REYR
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38. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 38. RMIfBARIMNEE @)
(Continued)
Place of Attributable
incorporation/ Class of Issued share capital/ equity interest
Name of subsidiary establishment shares held registered capital of the Group  Principal activities
WEARER HRAL/ FrisRiBER BRITRE/ 58 TEER
By aREA kAR
Dongguan Tay Yang Rubber PRC Contributed capital  HK$5,000,000 100% Manufacturing of slicone
Plastic Industrial rubber
Company Limited
REZABEURARAR hE BAEK 5,000,000 7 100% HEYE
Dongguan Tai Yang Rubber PRC Contributed capital ~ HK$43,323,394 100% Manufacturing of silicone
Plastic Industrial rubber
Company Limited
RENFBERRARAR i N -V 43,323,304757T 100% REYE
Huizhou Fu Ying Rubber Plastic  PRC Contriouted capitel  HK$12,800,000 100% Property holding
Industrial Co., Ltd
ENERZBELNERAR  HE BAER 12,800,000% 7 100% MEER
Huizhou Rui Mei Silicone PRC Contributed capital  HK$12,800,000 100% Property holding
Rubber Industrial Co., Ltd
BEMREHBERARAR el BAEK 12,800,000% 7 100% R
Huizhou Shuo Ying Silicone PRC Contributed capital - HK$12,800,000 100% Property holding
Rubber Industrial Co., Ltd
EMEREBHERERAR i BAEK 12,800,000 100% MEER
Huizhou Fu Mei Silicone Rubber — PRC Contriouted capitel  HK$12,800,000 100% Property holding
Industrial Co., Ltd
EMEXEBERERAA i BAER 12,800,000 7 100% NEER
Note: All entities established in the PRC are wholly foreign owned Wi FIBEERBRKINERYAEIINEBED
enterprises. ¥ o
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38. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

39.

40.

41

(Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results or assets of the Group. To give detalils of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in
particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding as
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

The Group has undertaken the following non-cash transactions
during the year ended 31st July 2009:
(a)  The Group has disposed certain prepaid lease payments
for the consideration of HK$1,536,000 which has not yet
been received at year end date.

The Group has acquired certain property, plant and
equipment for the consideration of HK$14,091,000 of
which HK$991,000 has not yet been settled at year end
date.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform
with the current year's presentation.

ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31st July 2009, the directors consider the ultimate controlling
party of the Company to be Homelink Venture Corp., which is
incorporated in the BVI. This entity does not produce financial
statements available for public use.

38.

39.

40.

41.

e BTSRRI A

KRB ATRINERE#)

ERINTARAEERREZFEARHE
XEHEBEENAEEMNBAR  MART
EERRFIEMHNBEARENEBHE
IEBNITE

RELRFREMERE - SENB DR
BERERITHELEES

TEHFBRERS

AEERBE_ZTZAFLA=1T—HL
FEBRMMETHNIFREZI ST ¢

AEEARB,536,0008 T HES
FHEABEFRE  EERENFLH
B ARYE -

(@)

K & E LA K BE14,091,0008 T U
BETYE BREAXRE EF
991,000 LA F 4 H M AR ©

BT
ETHRMES FEFHM - EAER
255 REH -
RARERS
SEEAFLASR - RERAE
TME”%ME%F%%E&%%?%

A7 HyHomelink Venture Corp. o sZ ¥
BEMEATHENIBRE -
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Five Years Financial Summary

hFRBEHE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

mERE

Year ended 31st July
BEtLtA=+—HLEE

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
—EERF ZZTERF —2TF —TEN\F ZEBEAF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FHEIT FHEIT T T FET
Turnover e 523,932 579,556 629,839 744,908 620,251
Profit (loss) for the year FRREF (EE) 127,697 144,123 159,589 100,383 (38,893)
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES #SReEERER
As at 31st July
WtBA=+—8
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
—EERF —ZTTRF —TTLF —TENF ZBEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FHET FHEIT FET FET T
(Note) (Note) (Note)
GES; = (PFF&E)
Total assets EEMRE 421,339 491,727 1,213,553 1,299,202 1,190,173
Total liabilities BERE (157,373) (242,351) (191,551) (151,074) (119,248)
263,966 249,376 1,022,002 1,148,128 1,070,925
Total equity S BE 263,966 249,376 1,022,002 1,148,128 1,070,925
Note: PRE -

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 23rd February 2006
and became the holding company of the Group with effect from
17th May 2007 as a result of a reorganisation scheme as set out in the
Prospectus dated 28th May 2007 issued by the Company. Accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31st July 2007
and the comparatives have been prepared as if the current group structure

had been in existence throughout the years presented.
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Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited

Flat 28, 23/F, Metro Centre I, 21 Lam Hing Street, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BB BEEREAT 215 EED O —HI23FIB28E

Tel &5 : (852) 3678 5088

Fax & : (852) 3678 5099

Website #84F : www.tayang.com
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